
 

 

 

Children, Young People and 
Family Support Scrutiny and 
Policy Development Committee 
(Special Meeting) 
 

 
Monday 15 December 2014 at 2.00 pm 
 
To be held at the Town Hall, Pinstone 
Street, Sheffield, S1 2HH 

 
The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership 
  

Councillors Gill Furniss (Chair), Nasima Akther, John Booker, Mike Drabble, 
Talib Hussain, Karen McGowan, Pat Midgley, Colin Ross, Ian Saunders, 
Diana Stimely, Stuart Wattam and Cliff Woodcraft (Deputy Chair) 
 
Education Non-Council Members 
Jules Jones, Gillian Foster, Joan Stratford and Alison Warner 
 
 
Substitute Members 
In accordance with the Constitution, Substitute Members may be provided for the 
above Committee Members as and when required. 
 

  

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING 

 
The Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny Committee exercises an 
overview and scrutiny function in respect of the planning, policy development and 
monitoring of service performance and other general issues relating to learning and 
attainment and the care of children and young people within the Children’s Services 
area of Council activity.  It also scrutinises as appropriate the various local Health 
Services functions, with particular reference to those relating to the care of children. 
 
A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council’s website at 
www.sheffield.gov.uk. You can also see the reports to be discussed at the meeting if 
you call at the First Point Reception, Town Hall, Pinstone Street entrance.  The 
Reception is open between 9.00 am and 5.00 pm, Monday to Thursday and between 
9.00 am and 4.45 pm.  You may not be allowed to see some reports because they 
contain confidential information.  These items are usually marked * on the agenda.  
 
Members of the public have the right to ask questions or submit petitions to Scrutiny 
Committee meetings and recording is allowed under the direction of the Chair.  
Please see the website or contact Democratic Services for further information 
regarding public questions and petitions and details of the Council’s protocol on 
audio/visual recording and photography at council meetings. 
 
Scrutiny Committee meetings are normally open to the public but sometimes the 
Committee may have to discuss an item in private.  If this happens, you will be asked 
to leave.  Any private items are normally left until last.  If you would like to attend the 
meeting please report to the First Point Reception desk where you will be directed to 
the meeting room. 
 
If you require any further information about this Scrutiny Committee, please 
contact Diane Owens, Policy and Improvement Officer on 0114 27 35065 or email 
diane.owens@sheffield.gov.uk 
 

FACILITIES 

 
There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall.  Induction loop facilities are available in meeting rooms. 
 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 
 



 

 

 

CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILY SUPPORT SCRUTINY AND POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE AGENDA 

15 DECEMBER 2014 
 

Order of Business 

 
1. Welcome and Housekeeping Arrangements  
   
2. Apologies for Absence  
   
3.  Exclusion of Public and Press  
 To identify items where resolutions may be moved to 

exclude the press and public 
 

 

4. Declarations of Interest (Pages 1 - 4) 
 Members to declare any interests they have in the business 

to be considered at the meeting 
 

 

5. Public Questions and Petitions  
 To receive any questions or petitions from members of the 

public 
 

 

6. Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in 
Sheffield 

(Pages 5 - 54) 

 Report of the Executive Director, Children, Young People 
and Families 
 

 

7. Date of Next Meeting  
 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on Monday, 

26th January, 2015, at 1.00 pm, in the Town Hall 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

 
If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of 
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:  
 

• participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business, or  

• participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.  

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 

You must: 
 

• leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct) 

• make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at any 
meeting at which you are present at which an item of business which affects or 
relates to the subject matter of that interest is under consideration, at or before 
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent. 

• declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer within 28 
days, if the DPI is not already registered. 

 
If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable 
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if 
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.  
 

• Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain, 
which you, or your spouse or civil partner undertakes. 
 

• Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your 
council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of 
any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 
*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you tell the 
Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 

• Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or 
a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial 
interest) and your council or authority –  
 
- under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and  
- which has not been fully discharged. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



 2

 

• Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, 
have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

 

• Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a month 
or longer. 
 

• Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) – 
- the landlord is your council or authority; and  
- the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a 

beneficial interest. 
 

• Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in 
securities of a body where -  

 

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
your council or authority; and  
 

(b) either - 
- the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  
- if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 

value of the shares of any one class in which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you 
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to 
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest 
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is 
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; 
accountability; openness; honesty; and leadership).  

You have a personal interest where – 

• a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting 
the well-being or financial standing (including interests in land and easements 
over land) of you or a member of your family or a person or an organisation with 
whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect the 
majority of the Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or 
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s 
administrative area, or 
 

• it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as DPIs but 
are in respect of a member of your family (other than a partner) or a person with 
whom you have a close association. 

 

Page 2



 3

Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the 
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to 
you previously. 
 
You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be 
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to 
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member 
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.  

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours 
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and 
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought.  The Monitoring 
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’s Standards 
Committee in relation to a request for dispensation. 

Further advice can be obtained from Gillian Duckworth, Interim Director of Legal and 
Governance on 0114 2734018 or email gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk. 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

 
 

 
 

 
Report of: Jayne Ludlam, Executive Director for Children, Young People and 

Families 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Dr Kathryn Houghton, Safer Outlook Consulting Ltd  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
 
A motion was passed at Full Council on the 3rd September requesting that an 
assessment of child sexual exploitation services be undertaken in response to 
the publication of Professor Alexis Jay’s Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual 
Exploitation in Rotherham. 
 
The attached report and Executive Summary are presented in response to this 
request, summarising the activity that has been undertaken in the following 
areas: 
 

� evaluation of leadership and governance 
� multi-agency CSE safeguarding self-assessment 
� identification and analysis of core documentation against Ofsted's 2014 

CSE thematic inspection Annex A requirements 
� evaluation of CSE processes, procedures and tools 
� evaluation of the CSE training programme 
� staff survey on CSE training and support  
� evaluation of the outcomes of ten CSE cases managed via the CSE 

service 
� in-depth audit of 32 cases of children and young people who received 

input from SSES 
� young people's panel  

 
 
Type of item:  The report author should tick the appropriate box  

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report  

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny X 

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Report to Children and Families 
Scrutiny & Policy Development 

Committee 15-12-14 
Insert date  

Agenda Item 6

Page 5



 

 2

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee  

Other  

 
The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
 
Consider the contents of the overview report in relation to the delivery of child 
sexual exploitation services in Sheffield and consider whether they are satisfied 
with: 
 

• the scope of the review 

• the actions identified to further improve services in Sheffield 
 
___________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  
 
Overview Report: An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in 
Sheffield 
 
Executive Summary: An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in 
Sheffield 
 
 
Category of Report: OPEN  

 

Page 6



An Assessment of CSE Services in Sheffield November 14: Executive Summary Issue 1.1  

Executive Summary: 

An Assessment of CSE Services in Sheffield: Overview Report 

November 2014 

 
Alexis Jay's Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham published in 
August 2014, further highlighted the need to scrutinise all aspects of governance and 
practice in relation to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE). In light of the Jay report findings, 
Sheffield City's full Council passed a motion on 3 September 2014 requesting an 
assessment of agencies' responses to CSE in the city.  
 
In response, this CSE assessment, commissioned by Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board 
(SSCB), looked at how effective their partners were in achieving Sheffield's strategic aims in 
tackling CSE, including the operation of the multi-agency Sheffield Sexual Exploitation 
Service (SSES) established in 2001. SSCB is responsible for agreeing with the relevant 
organisations in Sheffield, how they should work together to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children and young people, ensuring that in relation to this they provide an 
effective service. Information about the structure and membership of SSCB Executive and 
Operational Boards is available on SSCB's website. SSCB's Independent Chair, Sue 
Fiennes, chaired the overseeing panel for this CSE assessment and was also interviewed as 
part of the programme of work. 
 
In this CSE assessment, SSCB and partners have benchmarked current practice against the 
Jay recommendations to ensure agencies are providing the most responsive best practice. 
This is a comprehensive assessment, which due to its thoroughness, has taken slightly 
longer than anticipated. The findings will inform future strategic direction and continuous 
development of SSCB's response to CSE.  
 
The CSE assessment looked at many aspects including: leadership and governance; multi-
agency CSE safeguarding self-assessment; compliance with Ofsted CSE thematic 
inspection Annex A requirements; evaluation of processes, procedures and tools; evaluation 
of the CSE training programme; staff survey on training and support; evaluation of ten cases 
managed via the SSES service; audit of 32 cases of children and young people who 
received input from SSES and a young people's panel. 
 
This overview report on the CSE assessment has been compiled by an independent 
consultant, Dr Kathryn A. Houghton. It is based solely on collation and analysis of material 
provided by SSCB and partners including Sheffield City Council (SCC) in October 2014 and 
November 2014. SSCB and SCC have approved and confirmed the accuracy of this report. 
Whilst compiling this report, the author gained a strong sense of seamless working together, 
partnership and joint ownership in dealing with CSE in Sheffield. Detailed actions in progress 
from each of the strands of this assessment have been developed. Analysis of the 
information gained, provides SSCB and partners with the following key recognised areas of 
strength and areas for development. 
 

Areas of strength  

Strategy, leadership and compliance 

1. CSE is a long standing key strategic priority for SSCB and partners. 
2. SSCB and partners strongly comply with the Jay recommendations and many of the 

requirements have been embedded in Sheffield for many years, given the early and 
proactive response to CSE. 

3. Prevention; protecting; pursuing and prosecuting are at the heart of the CSE 
strategy. 

Page 7



An Assessment of CSE Services in Sheffield November 14: Executive Summary Issue 1.1  

4. Sheffield has a history and evidence of being willing to tackle and confront difficult 
issues, regardless or any gender or ethnicity implications. 

5. Reducing the impact of CSE on children and young people is central to all activity. 
6. Sheffield has effective leadership and governance arrangements discharging their 

statutory obligations. 
7. There is a culture of openness; questioning and professional challenge supported by 

robust policies and procedures. 
8. SSCB and partners operate in a learning environment evaluating and adapting 

services to children and young people. 
9. Evolution of services and timely actions to address dynamic and complex 

demographics.  
10. SSES manager now part of a multi-agency case review panel to add in CSE 

elements and intelligence. 
 

Quality assurance and recognition of the CSE service 
11. Ofsted recognition of SSCB in effectively responding in partnership to CSE.  
12. The SSES is long established and recognised as good practice by Ofsted and HMIC.   
13. Operation Alphabet was recognised by the judge as a model of its kind, due to 

diligent work including partnership working and support provided to victims. 
 

Policy and process 
14. CSE activity is supported by a robust and frequently-refreshed suite of policies and 

procedures. 
15. SSCB and partners demonstrate good compliance with Ofsted's CSE thematic 

inspection Annex A data and documentation requirements. 
16. Agencies and partners reference and signpost staff to SSCB policies and 

procedures, which provide guidance on the management of CSE.  
17. The CSE self-assessment indicated that all agencies had a safeguarding lead, the 

majority also led on CSE. 
18. All agencies and many schools have a good understanding of the referral process for 

CSE cases. 
19. All agencies and schools have information-sharing protocols and actively encourage 

staff to attend multi-agency meetings, contribute to and deliver the plan. 
20. Robust action has been taken to deal with CSE in all areas of licensing regulatory 

requirements. 
 
CSE Awareness programmes and training 

21. CSE training and awareness programmes have reached over 1700 practitioners, is 
recognised as best practice and been adopted nationally. 

22. E-safety training and awareness programmes are delivered to professionals; children 
and young people and parents. 

23. The voluntary, community and faith sector have been included in CSE training; 
planning and delivery. 

24. The impact of CSE training noted through increased referrals to SSES and 
participants' acknowledgement of enhanced understanding. 

25. CSE awareness literature is available to children and young people; parents; carers 
and practitioners utilising innovative communication channels. 

26. SSCB and partners believe it is important to deliver CSE awareness to all of the 
community, regardless of gender or ethnic group. 

27. CSE awareness programmes are delivered to a variety of public audiences including 
BME community groups. 

 
Practitioner activity 

28. Practitioners and managers are able to recognise the indicators of risk and 
vulnerability of CSE and when to refer children and young people to SSES. 

Page 8



An Assessment of CSE Services in Sheffield November 14: Executive Summary Issue 1.1  

29. Practitioners requesting and undergoing continuous professional development to 
enhance their understanding of CSE and how to effectively support children and 
young people. 

30. Over 83% of practitioner respondents to the survey said they received enough 
support to respond to the issues of CSE. 

31. Over 94% of practitioner respondents said they were confident in identifying issues in 
relation to CSE. 

32. Case evaluations and audits demonstrated innovative and effective means of 
engaging with children and young people who have been subject to CSE. 

33. Children from all ethnic groups; gender and presenting CSE risks are referred to 
SSES. 

34. SSCB and SSES have strong links with schools, who are the highest source of 
referrals. 

35. All children and young people referred to SSES had received a CSE assessment. 
 

Work with children and young people 
36. Work with children and young people around CSE spans across the spectrum of 

nationally-recognised thresholds from addressing need through universal services; 
Team around the Child; Child in Need (CiN); Child Protection (CP) and at the far end 
of the need spectrum to children in care (LAC) at the most risk, including providing 
secure accommodation. 

37. Sheffield have a recognised Community Youth Model of working with the children 
and young people. 

38. Sheffield give children a safe space and time to talk about their experiences. 
39. Sheffield builds trusting and supporting relationships with children and young people, 

ensuring the most appropriate professionals deliver direct work. 
40. Practitioners will try to ensure children and young people strongly influence the 

direction of work undertaken with them. 
41. Practitioners ensure children learn to say "No" and deliver Keep Safe work right from 

the start of their relationship with them. 
42. Sheffield supports the whole family in the child's journey. 
43. Sheffield agencies have exit strategies from the different levels of support and ensure 

children and young people's cases only close to social care when risk has sufficiently 
reduced. 

44. Children and young people are involved in the development of CSE services through 
panels and one-to-one input. Sheffield children and young people also contribute to 
the consultation work of Office of the Children's Commissioner. Future thematic 
panels are planned. 
 
 

Areas for development 

Strategy, leadership and compliance 

1. SSCB need to continue to provide those who serve on scrutiny and licensing panels 
with sufficient CSE awareness and knowledge to enable effective independent 
challenge and decision making. 

2. SSCB need to ensure that all elected members, leaders and practitioners are aware 
of further CSE learning resources, including the National Working Group network. 

3. SSCB and SSES to co-ordinate a portfolio and timetable for reports and bulletins to 
inform relevant audiences including the SSCB Operational and Executive Boards; 
Scrutiny; agencies and schools, of CSE activity. 

 
Policy, process and systems 

4. Education advisors to provide a specific CSE policy for all schools and other groups 
such as MAST, faith sector and voluntary agencies etc. 

5. SSCB to provide an information-sharing factsheet and checklist to schools. 

Page 9



An Assessment of CSE Services in Sheffield November 14: Executive Summary Issue 1.1  

6. As part of the review of front door services, ensure closer alignment of the Sheffield 
Joint Investigation Team; social care and SSES and clarify terminology and 
pathways used. 

7. Clinical supervision to be provided for SSES support workers. 
8. Continuation of development of the CSE assessment tool, in particular looking at 

alternatives to scoring systems. 
9. Clearer pathway to, and greater availability of, health services for those children and 

young people who are impacted by CSE.  
10. Practitioners will be reminded of the purpose and interaction of the many single and 

multi-agency assessments used when working with children and young people.  
11. Undertake a benchmark of investigation and prosecution statistics against other 

authorities. 
12. Further improve effective recording: 

a. CareFirst to be utilised as a central information system for recording of all 
CSE activity taking place for individual children and young people. Access at 
appropriate levels to be provided to those working with children and young 
people. 

b. Rationalisation of information systems to reduce resource heavy data 
extraction for CSE profiling. 

c. Record the ethnicity of all alleged offenders, to facilitate profiling. 
 
CSE awareness and training 

13. SSCB and educational advisors to provide a CSE training pathway for agencies and 
schools and to secure consistent high quality referrals. 

14. SSCB and SSES, together with partners, to further develop CSE awareness in 
schools and all communities within Sheffield including ethnic minority communities, 
leveraging on available networks and resources. 

15. Proactive availability of CSE awareness material in the main languages spoken in 
Sheffield to run alongside verbal messages. 

16. Guidance to be provided to practitioners on the relevant powers, duties and toolkits 
to aid engagement with 16/ 17 year olds who refuse to engage and parents who do 
not perceive risk. 

 
Conclusion 
 
CSE has a devastating impact on the lives of children and young people, together with those 
of their families. Working with the communities of Sheffield, SSCB has a responsibility to 
ensure that they effectively handle CSE and continue to support those who have been 
subject to it. SSCB and partners will continue to prevent, protect, pursue and prosecute 
regardless of the gender or ethnicity of the perpetrator or victim. Sheffield has pioneered and 
commissioned services such as the SSES, opened in 2001, and has been recognised for 
good practice by Ofsted and HMIC.  
 
As a partnership, SSCB recognise that continuous learning is required to react to Sheffield's 
dynamic population and ever increasing evidenced based best practice in dealing with CSE. 
Sheffield City Councillors requested this assessment as part of their learning culture and 
SSCB have co-ordinated the response. Whilst recognising the strengths, SSCB and partners 
have already begun to address the areas for development identified in this assessment. 
Agencies will be working together to deliver on an action plan, whilst continuing to listen to 
those who have the strongest voice, that of the children and young people who have been 
impacted by CSE. 
 
All enquires about this report should be submitted to: 
Sheffield City Council Press Team 
Email: press@sheffield.gov.uk 
Telephone 0114 205 3546 

Page 10



An Assessment of 
Child Sexual Exploitation  

Services in Sheffield:  
Overview Report 
 November 2014 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Overview Report Author: Dr Kathryn A. Houghton, Safer Outlook Consulting 

Ltd. 
 

Date of Publication: November 2014 
 

Page 11



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 2 

Foreword 

 
Following the publication of the Jay Report in August 2014 Sheffield City Council 
commissioned Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB) to undertake an 
assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation arrangements in Sheffield. This report 
summarises what has been a thorough and wide-ranging assessment of those 
arrangements benchmarked against the findings and recommendations contained 
within that report. Many local authorities across the country will have been 
undertaking a similar exercise. In Sheffield this process has been overseen and 
quality-assured by a Panel consisting of myself, as Independent Chair (SSCB), Cllr 
Jackie Drayton, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families, Jayne 
Ludlam, Executive Director, Children Young People & Families and Kevin Clifford, 
Chief Nurse, Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group.  This report has been received, 
considered and agreed by this appointed Panel.  
 
As outlined in this report Sheffield was one of the first local authorities to recognise 
the impact of Child Sexual Exploitation and as a result we have a long history of 
working hard to tackle this difficult and challenging issue. By virtue of being in the 
vanguard, we have been able to reflect on our practice, take the opportunity to further 
develop our knowledge, skills and understanding and identify innovative and creative 
responses. This assessment has shown that Sheffield responds well to cases of CSE 
and in some cases is going beyond the standards outlined in the Jay Report on 
behalf of young people who have been sexually exploited. However, there is no room 
for complacency; one of the virtues of undertaking an assessment such as this is 
that, whilst providing reassurance, it also identifies areas where we can further 
enhance and develop our services. For ease of reference of readers of this report we 
have provided an explanation of Sheffield Sexual Exploitation Service in Appendix A 
and relevant structure chart in Appendix D. 
 
As part of this assessment we wanted to ensure that any of our future plans were 
both aspirational and clearly focused on the needs of children and young people and 
the Panel wanted the voices of young people to form an essential part of this 
assessment. To achieve this we met and consulted with a representative group of 
young people from across the city. We would like to thank the children and young 
people for taking and contributing to this assessment.  
 
This assessment has reaffirmed the strength of partnership working in Sheffield 
which enables open and honest dialogue, as well as respectful challenge between 
partner organisations. Building on the strength of these relationships, the Panel 
wants to ensure that access to health and therapeutic support for young people who 
have been sexually exploited is varied in its range and timely in its delivery. In 
addition, information sharing will be further enhanced by improving the systems for 
partner data and recording processes to talk to each other more effectively and 
efficiently.  
 
Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board will routinely undertake analysis of the risks 
and vulnerabilities experienced by young people to ensure that our assessment 
methods and processes are continuously reviewed, updated and enhanced in the 
light of best practice knowledge and experience. We will continue to enhance our 
learning as services and the criminal justice system develop more robust responses 
both nationally and locally. 
 
 
 

Page 12



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 3 

 
 
Given the analysis in the report regarding licensing, the Panel wanted also to give 
support to retaining the safeguarding provisions in current legislation and make 
representations as appropriate to the Government regarding any proposals to relax 
the requirements. 
  

 
 
Sue Fiennes 
 
Independent Chair of the Panel and Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All enquires about this report should be submitted to: 
 
Sheffield City Council Press Team 
Email: press@sheffield.gov.uk 
Telephone 0114 205 3546 
 
Where can I learn more?  

If you would like to know more about SSCB and SSES and access the training for 
parents, carers and practitioners on CSE Keep Safe please access the website: 
 
https://www.safeguardingsheffieldchildren.org.uk/welcome/sheffield-safeguarding-children-board.html 

Page 13



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 4 

Contents 

 

Introduction          5 

 

Methodology          6 

 

Findings of the CSE assessment       8 

 

How is Sheffield responding to the Jay recommendations?   25 

 

Areas of strength and for development      25 

 

Conclusion          29 

 

Glossary          30 

 

Appendix A: Sheffield Sexual Exploitation Service    31 

 

Appendix B: Young People's Panel Report     33 

 

Appendix C: How is Jay responding to the Jay recommendations?  37 

 

Appendix D: CSE Service Structure Chart     43 

Page 14



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 5 

Introduction 

Alexis Jay's Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham 
published in August 2014, further highlighted the need to scrutinise all aspects of 
governance and practice in relation to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE). In light of the 
Jay report findings, Sheffield City's full Council passed a motion on 3 September 
2014 requesting an assessment of agencies' responses to CSE in the city.  
 
In response, this CSE assessment, commissioned by Sheffield Safeguarding 
Children Board (SSCB), looked at how effective their partners were in achieving 
Sheffield's strategic aims in tackling CSE, including the operation of the multi-agency 
Sheffield Sexual Exploitation Service (SSES) established in 2001. Further detail 
about the function and structure of SSES is available in Appendix A. SSCB is 
responsible for agreeing with the relevant organisations in Sheffield, how they should 
work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people, 
ensuring that in relation to this they provide an effective service. Information about 
the structure and membership of SSCB Executive and Operational Boards is 
available on SSCB's website. SSCB's Independent Chair, Sue Fiennes, chaired the 
overseeing panel for this CSE assessment and was also interviewed as part of the 
programme of work. 
 
In this CSE assessment, SSCB and partners have benchmarked current practice 
against the Jay recommendations to ensure agencies are providing the most 
responsive best practice. This is a comprehensive assessment, which due to its 
thoroughness, has taken slightly longer than anticipated. The findings will inform 
future strategic direction and continuous development of SSCB's response to CSE.  
 
SSCB and its partners operate in a learning environment. They recognise that 
effective safeguarding is achieved through continual assessment and development of 
services offered to the children, young people and families in Sheffield. 
Approximately 114,000 children and young people under the age of 18 live in 
Sheffield. This is 20.5% of the total population in the area. Like many cities, Sheffield 
has neighbourhood areas which rank high in deprivation; in contrast there are 
adjacent areas of relative affluence. The pace and complexity of demographic 
change requires SSCB and its partners to constantly evaluate their services, to 
ensure effectively targeted resources. 
 
CSE has a devastating impact on the lives of children and young people, together 
with those of their families. Tackling CSE is a recognised and long-standing key 
strategic priority within Sheffield. It is the collective responsibility of SSCB and 
partners to identify those children and young people at risk of sexual exploitation and 
it is their joint responsibility to protect and safeguard them from further risk or actual 
harm. Recognised as good practice by Ofsted and HMIC inspections, SSCB and its 
partnership working to deal with CSE, has achieved successful prosecutions of a 
number of perpetrators and they continue to actively prevent, protect, pursue and 
prosecute.  
 
Sheffield was one of three local authorities who were successful in a bid to receive 
the MsUnderstood programme. Amongst other activities, this programme helps them 
address sexual exploitation. They have also recently secured funding for a hub and 
spoke model to share good practice with other authorities. They are through to the 
second bid stage for additional funding from the Department for Education (DfE), to 
further develop a sub-regional approach to divert young people away from CSE and 
support those who have successfully exited abusive situations. SSCB recognise CSE 
does not stop at the city boundary and they work closely with their neighbours and 

Page 15



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 6 

nationally to develop initiatives and share best practice. SSCB and partners are 
active members of national forums tackling CSE and share best practice and learning 
with other authorities. 
 
SSCB and partners utilise the National Working Group for Sexually Exploited 
Children and Young People's (NWG) and the Association of Chief Police Officers 
(ACPO) definition of CSE.  
 
"The sexual exploitation of children and young people under 18 involves exploitative 
situations, contexts and relationships where young people (or a third person or 
persons) receive ‘something’ (e.g. food, accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, 
affection, gifts, money) as a result of performing, and/or others performing on them, 
sexual activities. 
 
Child sexual exploitation can occur through use of technology without the child’s 
immediate recognition, for example the persuasion to post sexual images on the 
internet/mobile phones with no immediate payment or gain. In all cases those 
exploiting the child/young person have power over them by virtue of their age, 
gender, intellect, physical strength and/or economic or other resources. Violence, 
coercion and intimidation are common, involvement in exploitative relationships being 
characterised in the main by the child or young person's limited availability of choice 
resulting from their social/economic and/or emotional vulnerability" (NWG 2008) 
 
This overview report on the CSE assessment has been compiled by an independent 
consultant, Dr Kathryn Houghton. It is based solely on collation and analysis of 
material provided by SSCB and partners including Sheffield City Council (SCC) in 
October 2014 and November 2014. SSCB and SCC have approved and confirmed 
the accuracy of this report. Whilst compiling this report, the author gained a strong 
sense of seamless working together, partnership and joint ownership in responding 
to CSE in Sheffield.  
 
 

Methodology 
 
The CSE assessment was overseen by a panel, chaired by Sue Fiennes who is the 
Independent Chair of the SSCB and supported by: Jayne Ludlam, DCS; Cllr Jackie 
Drayton, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families and Kevin 
Clifford, Chief Nurse (CCG). The purpose of the panel was to oversee the process, 
provide direction and challenge and to ensure full coverage of services and 
recommendations. 
 
The terms of reference for this CSE assessment were as follows: 
 
Areas to specifically address in learning from the Jay report: 
 
Ø To consider the findings and recommendations made in the Jay report and 

assess Sheffield’s current practice against these. Identify areas of good practice, 
any gaps and the potential challenges to addressing these. 

Ø Ensure that the strategic direction for tackling sexual exploitation in the city has 
sufficient oversight, scrutiny, governance and leadership and is delivering on its 
objectives. 

Ø Determine whether front line workers within Children's Social Care (Fieldwork 
and Looked After services) have sufficient understanding and awareness of 
sexual exploitation to recognise risk and take the appropriate action.  

Page 16



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 7 

Ø Based on the issues identified in the Jay report, and drawing upon recent 
external inspections we will determine whether the dedicated Sexual Exploitation 
Service is operating effectively by: 

o Ensuring risk assessments are determining the right level of risk 
o Reviewing the use of the assessment tool in light of the comments made 

in the Jay report 
o Developing clear action plans in line with the determined level of risk 
o That data collection and intelligence gathering is of a good enough quality 

to assist prosecutions 
o That the service is delivering on the 4 key principles: prevention; 

protection; pursue and prosecution 
 

Ø Determine whether services for Looked After Children in the city are providing 
sufficient protection and support and that staff and carers have sufficient 
knowledge and understanding to identify risk and take appropriate action. 

Ø Determine whether young people in the city have sufficient knowledge and 
understanding to identify risk and take appropriate action. 

Ø Determine whether wider council services are engaged, aware and appropriately 
informed of the risk of CSE e.g. licensing, transport etc.  

Ø Determine whether partner agencies have sufficient understanding and 
awareness of sexual exploitation to recognise risk and take the appropriate action 
and are engaged in the four key principles. 

Ø Ensure that all agencies have sufficient operational oversight and accountability 
for CSE cases. 

Ø Recommend what additional support pathways are required to enable the victims 
of CSE to receive the services they require. 

 
The CSE assessment collated and triangulated multiple sources of data from several 
parallel work streams to effectively analyse evidence for the CSE assessment and it 
undertook the following: 
 
Ø evaluation of leadership and governance 
Ø multi-agency CSE safeguarding self-assessment 
Ø identification and analysis of core documentation against Ofsted's 2014 CSE 

thematic inspection Annex A requirements 
Ø evaluation of CSE processes, procedures and tools 
Ø evaluation of the CSE training programme 
Ø staff survey on CSE training and support  
Ø evaluation of the outcomes of ten CSE cases managed via the CSE service 
Ø in-depth audit of 32 cases of children and young people who received input from 

SSES 
Ø held a young people's panel in November 2014. 
 
Interviews took place with key politicians, senior officers and professionals from a 
number of agencies. It was vital to hear the voice of children and young people in this 
process, so SSCB arranged for ten young people to meet the overseeing panel in 
November 2014 to ask questions, comment and advise them on the future direction 
of combating CSE. The children and young people were briefed and prepared prior to 
the panel to enable full participation. As this work stream took place just prior to 
publication of this overview report, the results are provided in Appendix B. Further 
discussions and focus groups with children and young people are being planned to 
look at: 
 

Ø Educate – Who should we educate about CSE, where, at what age, and who 

should lead this, what are your views on peer educators? 

Page 17



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 8 

Ø Campaign – If we were to run a successful campaign to raise awareness of 

CSE with young people how we go about this, what form would it take – 

posters, phone apps, social media? 

Ø Digital technology – Thus can be a very positive influence but we also know 

about the dangers of online grooming, sexting etc – how do we protect young 

people when they use digital technology? 

Reporting on the individual elements from this assessment, the remainder of this 
report provides an overview of the evidence used by SSCB and partners to evaluate 
Sheffield's current performance in response to CSE. Through analysis SSCB also 
benchmarked Sheffield's CSE response against the Jay recommendations and 
evaluated strengths and areas for development. 
 
 

Findings of the CSE Assessment 

 
Leadership and governance 
 
As this report was in preparation, the Home Secretary began chairing a series of 
meetings with the Attorney General and others, to review the findings of the Jay 
report. One of the four themes these meetings will focus on is accountability and 
governance. Consequently the findings from the Attorney General's review will 
influence further developments in respect of leadership and governance within 
Sheffield. 
 
An assessment of leadership and governance relates to how elected members, 
leaders and senior managers discharge their individual and collective statutory 
requirements. There are a number of key statutory requirements governing local 
authority lead members, Chief Executives (CE) and Directors of Children's Services 
(DCS), including the Statutory guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the 
Director of Children's Services and the lead member for children's services (2012). 
Additionally the Children Act (2004) and Working together to safeguard children 
(2013) establish the fundamental principles: of clear lines of accountability; clear 
distinctions between political, strategic and operational roles; elected members and 
senior managers having a comprehensive and current knowledge of frontline activity 
and how well children and young people are being safeguarded. Effective leadership 
and governance must apply to all areas of Children's Services including CSE activity 
and across every partner. As in all challenge processes, it must be robust and 
supportive, conducted frequently by a variety of parties and assist in identifying 
strengths and areas for development. 
 
Alexis Jay's report demonstrated failures in Rotherham's leadership and governance. 
In response, the purpose of this part of SSCB's wider CSE assessment has been to 
benchmark Sheffield against key findings in the Jay report, regarding leadership and 
governance. SSCB canvassed and took into account the views and reports from a 
number of senior politicians and officers including the: CE; DCS; Lead Member for 
Children; shadow cabinet member; SSCB Independent Chair and Chair of the 
children and young people's scrutiny committee. What follows is a summary of the 
findings. 
 
The Statutory guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the Director of Children's 
Services and the lead member for children's services (2012) and Children Act (2004) 
require every top tier local authority to "designate one of its members as Lead 

Page 18



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 9 

Member for Children’s Services (LMCS). The LMCS will be a local Councillor with 
delegated responsibility from the Council, through the Leader, for children’s services. 
The LMCS, as a member of the Council Executive, has political responsibility for the 
leadership, strategy and effectiveness of local authority children’s services. The 
LMCS is also democratically accountable to local communities and has a key role in 
defining the local vision and setting political priorities for children’s services within the 
broader political context of the Council. The LMCS is responsible for ensuring that 
the needs of all children and young people, including the most disadvantaged and 
vulnerable, and their families and carers, are addressed. In doing so, the LMCS will 
work closely with other local partners to improve the outcomes and well-being of 
children and young people".  
 
Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) were created under the Children Act 
(2004) as the key statutory mechanism for agreeing how the relevant organisations in 
each local area will cooperate to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 
to ensure the effectiveness of what they do. Sheffield's Lead Member for Children is 
a "participant observer" in the SSCB, routinely attending meetings and receiving all 
reports. Working alongside senior representatives from SSCB's key partners, the 
Lead Member, CE and DCS through SSCB, regularly scrutinise safeguarding activity 
within Sheffield. Indeed Ofsted's recent inspection stated: 
 
"The SSCB has led the development of an effective response to child sexual 
exploitation in Sheffield. This resulted in board partners committing additional funding 
to support and promote this priority." (Ofsted 2014).  
 
CSE has been a long standing priority for SSCB (and predecessor organisations) 
and they manage and provide joint agency funding for SSES. As such SSCB have 
routinely received and scrutinised performance management reports regarding CSE. 
The SSCB annual report has included a section about CSE for the last ten years. As 
a sub-group to SSCB, a CSE strategic board was formed, in addition to a CSE 
operational board. Through constant review, SSCB has a clear sense of strategic 
direction and expanded membership of the CSE strategic board. SSCB recognise 
that their terms of reference need constant refresh and have committed to this.  
 
Effective scrutiny is an essential part of strong leadership and governance, providing 
accountability, transparency and a mechanism for holding decision makers and 
organisations to account. Sheffield's Children, Young People and Family Support 
Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee exercises an overview and scrutiny 
function for all aspects of Children's Services. Panel membership consists of thirteen 
Councillors proportionate to the political make-up of the council, together with 
external representatives. In Sheffield, effective opposition and within-party working is 
an important part of their questioning, professional challenge and accountability 
process. Turnover and rotation of members of the committee prevents a static board 
and ensures constant refresh of their roles and responsibilities. 
 
SCC has recently reviewed the scrutiny committee and identified a need for greater 
engagement of the public through "expert witnesses" on the board; strengthening 
accountability of other agencies delivering services and ongoing CSE training for 
committee members. Furthermore, although the SSCB annual report goes to 
scrutiny, production of a specific CSE annual report is thought to be a useful way of 
continuing to provide a focus on CSE. 
 
This assessment demonstrated that SCC aims to create a culture of openness. They 
set out their approach and values in a number of policies embedded through 
individual performance reviews and communicated directly from the CE. The 

Page 19



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 10 

expected conduct of all elected members, leaders, employees and associated 
contractors working for the council, is set out in the Code of Conduct. SCC also have 
a Whistleblowing Policy which encourages people to raise complaints and concerns, 
providing several options for this, including speaking to trained advisors who can 
handle confidential phone conversations. SCC investigate any issues raised and 
provide information to scrutiny. SCC have a clear and robust Disciplinary Procedure 
and commission investigations into complex allegations of misconduct. In parallel, 
their Safe Recruitment and Working Practices ensures recruitment and selection 
processes appropriately screen and identify people who are suitable to work with 
vulnerable children and young people. Once in post, safe working practices enable 
them to monitor the conduct of those in contact with children and young people and 
act on any concerns. 
 
This assessment of leadership and governance reviewed the role and activity of the 
SSCB in licensing. More detail on this will be provided later in the assessment of 
CSE training section. Councillors regularly scrutinise and regulate activity in the 
licensed trade through forums such as the Licensing Committee. Sheffield has many 
examples of strong leadership and governance demonstrated in this committee. For 
example, the committee have responded positively to representations made by the 
SSCB and Police, resulting in some premises' licences now having conditions to 
minimise the risk of CSE and human trafficking. The assessment confirmed the need 
to continue to deliver CSE training to all those who service on committees, in which 
CSE could be a presenting factor in decision making. 
 
The assessment of leadership and governance in Sheffield has confirmed an ethos 
of questioning and professional challenge. This was demonstrated as occurring 
internally within Sheffield City Council (SCC) between elected members and officers 
and externally between partner organisations. Although geographical neighbours, 
there are a number of significant differences between Sheffield and Rotherham. 
Sheffield has a history and evidence of being willing to tackle and confront difficult 
issues, regardless of any gender or ethnicity implications. SCC Councillors represent 
and advocate for all the community and act as gateways to reach out to ethnic 
minority groups. Ofsted have recognised the strengths of SSCB's partnership 
arrangements in their recent inspection and they continue to build on their culture of 
openness. 
 
The national government response to the Jay report will carry significant implications 
for leadership and governance across all local authorities and LSCBs. SSCB and 
partners will continue to track and respond to resultant recommendations in a timely 
way. 
 
 
Multi-agency self-assessment of CSE safeguarding 
 
SSCB undertook a CSE self-assessment as part of this overall assessment of 
Sheffield agencies' response to CSE in the city. The aim of the CSE self-assessment 
was to enable SSCB partner agencies, who are providers of services to children and 
young people in Sheffield, to demonstrate: the practices in place; to highlight best 
practice and to identify any learning. As well as schools, SSCB included: Police; 
health; probation; Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service 
(CAFCASS); Fire and Rescue Service and Sheffield City Council (submitting four 
self-assessments across all portfolios) and Sheffield Futures. 
 
The self-assessment toolkit was developed and agreed by the SSCB Executive 
Board. It was designed as a supportive tool that enables agencies to reflect on their 

Page 20



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 11 

processes in relation to CSE, in order to highlight their strengths and identify any 
weaknesses. It included five priority areas:  
 
Ø Recognition and identification of child sexual exploitation: Senior managers take 

leadership responsibility for CSE 
Ø Recognition and identification of child sexual exploitation: A trained and skilled 

workforce 
Ø Information sharing 
Ø Understanding the referral process 
Ø Safeguarding is everybody’s business: participating as an active team member to 

tackle sexual exploitation 
 
Within each priority, a number of areas were highlighted and agencies were asked to 
provide information of what their agency has in place in relation to these. SSCB 
received a 100% return from the main SSCB partners; 92% of the primary schools 
selected (10% sample) and 75% of all secondary schools and post-16 education 
providers. SSCB analysed 73 CSE self-assessments. It is important to note that 
some of the secondary schools provide education from primary to secondary, so will 
have submitted one return. SSCB are actively following up schools who have not yet 
returned their assessments. Agencies including all schools are expected to 
implement any actions from the self-assessment and SSCB will be monitoring and 
supporting them. Indeed, although not all the primary schools were surveyed, the 
actions leading from this CSE assessment will apply to all of Sheffield's schools. 
 
SSCB's self-assessment confirmed that agencies had a safeguarding lead and the 
majority of these also led on CSE. All had knowledge of the four key priorities for 
CSE in the city namely: prevent; protect; pursue and prosecute. Schools provided 
examples of how they reminded their staff of the safeguarding and CSE leads. A 
small number of schools did not clearly indicate if the safeguarding lead also led on 
CSE and SSCB has recommended that they clarify and communicate this. The 
analysis also indicated that communicating the SSCB business plan and key 
priorities is important, as SSCB had enabled agencies to understand the common 
strategy to deal with CSE. SSCB also plan to produce twice-yearly CSE bulletins that 
can be disseminated to agencies and schools.  
 
Whilst all agencies had a safeguarding policy, not all included specific CSE elements, 
although many had signposts to SSCB policies and procedures in which CSE is 
highlighted. SSCB has requested the education advisors produce a specific CSE 
policy for all schools to include within their policies and procedures. SSCB will also 
share best practice exemplars of CSE specific inserts. SSCB found a need to ensure 
all schools disseminate and encourage the use of the SSCB Resolution of 
Practitioner Disagreements policy. When working in the arena of safeguarding and 
child protection, it is inevitable that from time to time, there will be practitioner 
disagreement. Whilst this is acceptable on occasion, it is vital that such differences 
do not affect the outcomes for children and young people. Practitioner disagreement 
is not always negative if it improves the outcomes for children and young people in a 
timely and sensitive manner. Indeed, practitioner disagreement is only dysfunctional 
if not resolved in a constructive and timely fashion. This procedure, therefore, 
provides a process for resolving such practitioner disagreements. 
 
A high number of SSCB's partner agencies including schools, utilise their intranets to 
provide guidance to staff and links to external information on CSE. Team meetings, 
safeguarding memos, staff room presentations and bulletins were also frequently 
used to inform staff about CSE. Some agencies also had leaflets for children, young 
people and their families in how to recognise CSE and obtain help. This will be 

Page 21



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 12 

further explored in the section of this assessment looking at adherence to Ofsted 
CSE thematic inspection requirements.  
 
SSCB and partners believe that having a trained and skilled workforce enables 
practitioners to effectively deal with CSE and provide the best outcomes for children 
and young people. This report will provide more information later on the evaluation of 
the CSE training provided. The report now discusses who receives CSE training.  
 
Within Sheffield's health trusts, most professionals have undertaken training with an 
element of CSE and some have had more specialist training. The Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) hosted a national conference on CSE in September 
2014. Staff in South Yorkshire Police and South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue receive 
CSE training and a pocket guide and flowchart on what to do and how to report. 
Within CAFCASS, CSE training is mandatory and the majority of SCC staff working 
with children and young people have had CSE training. Presently, the two probation 
services do not cover CSE within their training and have this as an action to rectify. 
Those with specific responsibility for safeguarding and CSE in schools had generally 
received specific training on CSE, however, there is a need to increase the number 
of school staff who have received both safeguarding and CSE training. 
 
An action SSCB has taken from this self-assessment, is that they will produce a CSE 
training pathway from basic induction training through to advanced and specialist 
training. Additionally, education safeguarding advisors will provide a training pathway 
for education providers. 
 
Working Together (2013) emphasises that information sharing within and between 
agencies forms a vital aspect of safeguarding children and young people. SSCB 
have procedures on information sharing and this self-assessment illustrated that 
many of their partners, including most schools, utilise these as well as having their 
own information-sharing guidance. Additionally, co-location of SSES alongside many 
other agencies in Star House, was reported as providing valuable information-sharing 
opportunities and support from other services. All agencies reported that their staff 
have access to external advice and support about what information can be shared, 
given presenting risks. SSCB has identified that an SSCB information fact sheet for 
agencies and sharing checklist for schools would assist. They will also ensure 
information-sharing is included in all safeguarding training. 
 
This CSE self-assessment demonstrated wide understanding of the referral process 
for a child or young person at risk of CSE. Partner agencies and schools reported 
that staff know who they can contact for advice and support within their organisation. 
These contacts hold information on how to refer and access SSCB procedures. Many 
agencies publish information on how to refer on their intranets, alongside guidance 
on agency screening tools and assessments. Some schools were found to require 
more information on how to specifically refer CSE cases, as opposed to a general 
safeguarding referral. SSCB has requested SSES ensure schools receive more 
detailed information on CSE specific referrals. 
 
The self-assessment asked if senior managers were aware of referrals made in 
relation to CSE by their own organisation and if they were tracked and trends 
profiled. It must be noted that once referred to SSES, they track, monitor and profile 
referrals to ensure none are overlooked and to gain information to inform future 
planning. There was variation in the way agencies and schools recorded their 
safeguarding and CSE referrals. Variation was also seen across and within agencies 
and schools in monitoring and tracking. The self-assessment found 94% of 
secondary schools track referrals and that CSE profiles were developed in a few. 

Page 22



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 13 

Despite small pockets of profiling, in general, this was not undertaken in individual 
agencies. Those currently monitoring and profiling referrals included the Police, who 
have requested additional funding to assist in profiling. The Corner, a substance 
misuse service for those under 19 years old in Sheffield, reports performance in 
relation to CSE to Public Health England through the national drug treatment 
monitoring scheme. CAFCASS are undertaking work to understand the national 
picture and develop a strategy accordingly. SSCB, therefore, recommend that all 
agencies have a process in place by which they can monitor, track and understand 
the profile of both safeguarding and specific CSE referrals.  
 
Finally SSCB's self-assessment looked at participation in tackling CSE and support 
for professionals. They found that all of the organisations providing services to 
children and young people actively encourage their staff to attend meetings and take 
a positive role in the development and delivery of plans. Schools participate as active 
members of multi-agency teams and attendance at meetings is usually undertaken 
by the child protection lead or a member of the child protection team. Some schools 
support children and young people during weekends and in holiday periods through a 
mentor team.  
 
When providing support to children and young people, staff must also be supported 
and appropriately guided through the use of supervision. The self-assessment 
illustrated that all organisations provide supervision. Some were trialling different 
methods including peer supervision to enhance opportunities for staff to discuss and 
share ideas. Schools enable their staff to receive in-house supervision, 
supplemented, if applicable, by externally-provided more specialised supervision. 
SSCB recommend that there is development of peer support systems for education 
providers and that all agencies are informed of externally available support and 
advice to supplement supervision. 
 
This self-assessment has provided a good understanding of where things are 
working well and where SSCB and partners can continue to improve Sheffield's 
partnership approach to tackling CSE. In addition to this CSE self-assessment, 
SSCB has responded to the NWG Network benchmark questionnaire. In June 2014, 
they also responded to the Office of the Children's Commissioner's (OCC) 
questionnaire which looked at how SSCB and partners had responded to their 
Recognition and Telling (2013) report. The OCC will be shortly publishing the results 
of this collective piece of work in a one-year-on report. SSCB await further learning 
from this process. 
 
 
Core documentation against Ofsted's 2014 CSE thematic inspections 
 
In September 2014, Ofsted announced that they would be undertaking a thematic 
inspection of how eight local authorities deal with CSE. Three authorities subject to 
the full Ofsted Single Inspection Framework (SIF), including Rotherham, were 
selected for the CSE thematic to run alongside their main inspection. A further five 
received the thematic as a standalone inspection and at the time of writing this 
report, SSCB and partners await the outcomes. SSCB and partners will be 
incorporating any additional learning from the thematic inspections into future 
developments.  
 
It must also be noted that Sheffield was one of the first local authorities to receive the 
new Ofsted SIF inspection. Within this, they were inspected on how they deal with 
CSE and received very positive feedback from the inspectors across their CSE 
activities. In their inspection report, Ofsted stated: 

Page 23



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 14 

 
"The local approach to the prevention of child sexual exploitation is highly developed. 
It has full multi-agency ownership, involves some creative initiatives such as training 
for hoteliers and taxi drivers, and is able to provide good evidence of reach and 
impact that safeguard and protect children and young people ... Children at risk of 
sexual exploitation are quickly identified." (Ofsted, 2014). 
 
Ofsted subsequently provided an Annex A, listing all expected data and documentary 
evidence required for a CSE thematic inspection. Sheffield was not selected as one 
of the eight inspected, nonetheless the exercise of quality assuring against the 
requirements was incorporated as part of this assessment. Six areas included were 
data and documents related to: CSE strategy; SSCB responsibilities; policies and 
procedures; information on CSE for children and young people, their parents and 
carers and professionals and data regarding CSE from SSES and the Police. For 
each Ofsted requirement, analysis of the returns of the CSE assessment provided a 
RAG (Red, Amber, Green) score and recommendations where applicable for future 
development. The RAG ratings allowed identification of strengths and areas for 
development, discussed below. 
 
A number of strengths were identified in this assessment exercise; namely that 
SSCB and partners are able to immediately comply with all nine of the Ofsted SSES 
and Police data requirements. One difficulty encountered was in the extraction of the 
number of abduction warnings issued from data systems. This is a national issue and 
the requirement is resource intensive, due to the way data is recorded within and 
across systems. Although the data was available, the Police are looking to improve 
recording to reduce the resource needed for reporting. Sheffield's agencies are 
ahead of many others, in having available data such as: the number of contacts and 
referrals regarding CSE to social care and the Police; number of CSE victims subject 
to a child protection plan or being looked after and numbers accommodated in a 
secure setting as a result of being assessed at risk of CSE. Analysis and 
presentation to SSCB of trends and patterns for children missing from home, school 
or care is undertaken on a regular basis with the last period covering April 2014 to 
September 2014. This analysis also partly evidences Sheffield's compliance with the 
DfE January 2014 Statutory Guidance on Children who run away or go missing from 
home or care (RMFHC). 
 
Another area of strength is in SSCB's provision of CSE information to a variety of 
audiences. For children and young people, SSCB have a dedicated area on their 
SSCB website which provides information on staying safe. A number of CSE posters 
and leaflets are visible in buildings with a high footfall of children and young people, 
including Star House and locality-based venues. SSCB provide materials and training 
for schools to provide additional communication channels to children and young 
people. 
 
Parents and carers are often the people best placed to identify concerns and 
safeguard children and young people. There is a dedicated SSCB website area for 
parents and carers providing access to a variety of leaflets; associated websites and 
contact details. Developed with Child Exploitation and Online Protection (CEOP) and 
Parents Against Child Sexual Exploitation (PACE), SSCB offer a free online CSE 
course, Keep them Safe, to parents and carers accessible via the SSCB website. 
The course has been promoted with SSCB's partner agencies, who have been 
encouraged to further promote with parents and carers who access their service. 
SSCB's leaflet on CSE provides practical advice on how parents and carers can get 
help if they think their son or daughter is being sexually exploited.  
 

Page 24



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 15 

SSCB's communications provide details of how to receive information in different 
formats. There is an identified need to increase the provision of information 
proactively provided about CSE to: children; young people; parents and carers in the 
main ethnic group languages spoken in Sheffield. Breaking down language and 
literacy barriers remains a priority. SSCB also recognise the need to increase the use 
of social media and other communication channels to engage children and young 
people with messages on how to stay safe. In the spring of 2015, SSCB will be 
launching a free mobile phone application for children and young people, in relation 
to risk taking behaviours including CSE. 
 
SSCB provides a variety of information for professionals, not only through training, 
but also on the SSCB website. An SSCB Directory for Sexual Exploitation Services 
lists all members of the Practitioner's Group allowing individual members details of 
services provided and contact details where they can signpost and seek help for 
children and young people. Professionals can also contact the SSES for help and 
advice and the results of the staff survey, as part of this assessment, illustrated this 
to be a valued source. A South Yorkshire-wide campaign about CSE included: 
hoteliers; B&B owners; leisure centre staff and taxi companies. There will be more 
detail about this programme within the evaluation of CSE training section and 
additional information is available on the SSCB website. 
 
SSCB document and data requirements were all available for this assessment. 
Information-sharing protocols; evidence of SSCB quality assurance of CSE activity; 
CSE communication strategy and awareness raising programme; CSE training 
programme and quarterly performance management data were RAG rated green. 
SSCB CSE sub-group minutes were available, however, there was a need to ensure 
these always go to the SSCB Operational Board for scrutiny. 
 
Essential to any CSE service is a comprehensive and effective set of policies and 
procedures. These ensure safe and consistent use of evidence-based best practice 
and provide support and guidance to those working with children and young people 
vulnerable to CSE. As new legislation, guidance and best practice initiatives emerge, 
SSCB and partners have a programme in place to ensure these are reflected in all 
their policies and procedures. This assessment highlighted that whilst SSCB and 
partners have fully complied with many of the Ofsted Annex A CSE policy and 
procedure requirements, there is a recognised need to refresh a small number of 
policies and procedures. This was not an unexpected finding given that Sheffield are 
continually evolving in their understanding of the impact and ways of dealing with 
CSE. Furthermore, Sheffield constantly assess and redevelop services such as their 
SSES, to provide a high quality service to the children and young people of Sheffield. 
SCC has commissioned Tri-X, a recognised supplier providing policy and procedure 
services to local authorities, to update a suite of policies and procedures including 
those associated with CSE. Sheffield will also continue to refresh their CSE strategy 
through the SSCB, ensuring, as always, that they work in a multi-agency partnership 
effectively combining resources. 
 
The work stream to assess compliance with Ofsted CSE thematic inspection 
document and data requirements has demonstrated good compliance. Where there 
were identified gaps, these are being addressed through programmes designed to 
ensure Sheffield are constantly evolving in how they address CSE. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 16 

Evaluation of CSE processes, procedures and tools 
 
In the previous section, Sheffield's policies and procedures relevant to CSE were 
assessed, through benchmarking against Ofsted's requirements for a CSE thematic 
inspection. This section assesses how familiar and satisfied Sheffield practitioners 
are with the processes, procedures and tools relating to the understanding, 
identification, screening, review and interventions provided to children and young 
people presenting with concerns of CSE. 
 
Direct focus group-style interviews with small groups of team managers, from a 
range of core services providing interventions and support to children and young 
people across the city, took place in October 2014. A social worker and family 
intervention worker were also interviewed. In total, 38 professionals were asked 19 
structured questions, with correlation of answers mapped to their respective service 
areas. Short timescales and operational demands resulted in some gaps in inclusion 
of all SSES partners, including the Police and Sheffield Futures workers. However, 
their voice has been captured in other elements of this assessment. In parallel, a 
desktop review of screening and assessment tools was undertaken, liaising with the 
auditor involved in the CSE case audits assessment work stream. This enabled 
matching interview comments with observed practice and triangulation of findings. 
 
Participants were asked if they were familiar with the definition of CSE adopted by 
Sheffield. Whilst the majority of staff were not aware of the specific definition, they 
were able to describe characteristics of CSE including a comprehensive 
understanding of indicators of risk and vulnerability. Furthermore, managers knew 
how to implement SSCB policies and processes for referral for children and young 
people considered to be at risk of CSE. This included referral to SSES and accessing 
services to support direct work in this area including: the NSPCC; Interchange young 
people's counselling service and Barnardos. Co-location of services, seen for 
example in the west of the city, was reported as enabling good quality information 
sharing. 
 
Managers requested more clarity on the roles of the social workers embedded in the 
SSES and noted that SSES was known by a variety of titles including The CSE Team 
and Taking Stock. This caused some confusion, although there were no operational 
concerns or issues regarding functions. SSES managers considered that there was a 
need to further communicate the full extent and volume of the work undertaken in 
SSES. Managers said there needed to be improved links between the SSES social 
workers, area assessment teams and the Joint Investigation Team (JIT). In progress 
at the time of this assessment, was a review of how best to provide clinical 
supervision and line management to SSES social workers and improve alignment 
with the JIT. 
 
When asked what barriers or particular strengths there were to effective screening of 
CSE, the sessions highlighted a need to ensure consistent high quality of referrals 
from GPs and schools. Good quality referrals aid accurate and timely CSE 
assessment and SSES were cited as a source to provide guidance when agencies 
needed to refer. Participants suggested SSES further target schools and GPs with 
additional guidance to improve the quality of referrals. This also links with the need to 
provide a clear referral pathway for CSE as seen in the CSE self-assessment. 
 
A common theme emerging from this assessment and repeated in these interviews is 
the need to simplify and reduce the numbers of information systems in which work 
around children and young people at risk or involved in CSE is recorded. 
Practitioners need to be able to see the child's journey within one information system, 

Page 26



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 17 

with access rights appropriate to the level of professional or agency involvement. The 
work with children and young people around CSE in Sheffield is multi-agency. It 
spans the spectrum of nationally-recognised thresholds from addressing need 
through: universal services; Team around the Child; Child in Need (CiN); Child 
Protection (CP) and at the far end of the need spectrum to looking after children 
(LAC) at the most risk, including providing secure accommodation. Given the above 
and since developing an approach to CSE and implementing the SSES in 2001, the 
number and complexity of partner agencies and recording systems has grown. It is 
therefore time to review and develop the approach to utilising an already embedded 
CareFirst system, as a single information system for the child's journey. 
 
The interviews illustrated a requirement to ensure all relevant professionals were 
provided refresher information on the CSE assessment tool and scoring guide. 
Sheffield are mindful of emerging research and evidence-based practice in the 
screening and assessment of risk and as such continue to refine their tools. The Jay 
report illustrated inherent issues with scoring systems. SSCB and partners have long 
shared these concerns. Managers are clear that the numeric scoring system is an aid 
and does not substitute for professional judgements about risk. Indeed, SSES triage 
meetings allow for professional judgement to be exercised, reviewed and recorded. 
SSCB and partners will be further reviewing the CSE assessment tool with further 
evidenced-based best practice. They also need to refresh the CSE multi-agency risk 
assessment process to fully align the work of agencies and clarify terminology used.  
 
Practitioners will be reminded of the purpose and interaction of the many single and 
multi-agency assessments used when working with children and young people.  
Sheffield agencies use a variety of assessments to assess need in specific areas, not 
just CSE. Legislation often requires them to undertake key assessments such as: 
social care's single assessment; Youth Justice's AssetPlus or the multi-agency 
Family Common Assessment Framework (FCAF). When a child is subject to a 
number of assessments, they need to ensure practitioners are clear on purpose, and 
interaction between the streams of work. There is also a need to avoid duplication 
and confusion for children and young people. 
 
In common with the findings discussed in the next section, the interviews illustrated 
that services highlighted a desire for enhanced guidance. As practitioners became 
confident in applying learning, they have identified where they want to develop a 
deeper understanding to improve their work with children and young people. A key 
theme emerging from the practitioner's survey and focus groups has been the need 
to provide more specific guidance, including to the Police, regarding relevant powers 
and duties in respect of sixteen and seventeen year olds at risk or having been 
subject to CSE. In particular, in communicating with and keeping safe young people 
who refuse to engage and when neither parent perceives risk. It is important to 
recognise that young people can be sexually exploited despite being old enough to 
consent to sexual activity. Indeed, their decision making can be influenced by: drugs; 
grooming; threats of violence and power exerted by perpetrators.  
 
Some of the requests from managers, such as development of a list of resources 
available for services to access in order to engage children, young people and 
families around CSE are already in place. Thus there is a need to re-communicate 
this information and continue to promote use of research in practice training 
resources. 
 
Information gathered from practitioners interviewed, alongside the assessment of 
processes, procedures and tools in respect of CSE suggested that the services are 
effective at understanding and applying risk and vulnerability factors in order to 

Page 27



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 18 

intervene early and prevent escalation of CSE risk. Professionals have a hunger for 
more knowledge to continue to enhance services provided and improve the 
outcomes for children and young people. 
 
 
Evaluation of the CSE training programme 
 
In 2013/14, SSCB rolled out a substantial programme of CSE training delivered by 
the SSCB and supported by SSES, Children's Social Care and the NSPCC. Utilising 
a combination of single and multi-agency sessions to maximise attendance, they 
reached over 1500 practitioners from October 2013 to April 2014 and a further 271 to 
October 2014. Training was available to anyone working with children and families in 
either a paid or voluntary capacity, with some targeting of key groups e.g. schools, 
children's home staff, elected members; foster carers and GPs.  
 
In their recent SIF inspection Ofsted judged that: 
 
"The SSCB has been at the forefront in promoting training about awareness of 
sexual exploitation." (Ofsted 2014). 
 
The impact of this training is thought to have contributed to the increase in referrals 
to SSES, as those working with children become more familiar with recognising the 
signs and indicators of CSE and where to seek specialist advice. The SSES are 
aware that by training staff this increases combined intelligence of the current 
patterns of exploitation within Sheffield, allowing continual adaptation and effective 
targeting of resources. As part of their annual review SSCB also evaluated the 
impact of the CSE training provided to April 2014. Overall, the improvement rate in 
knowledge and levels of confidence in relation to CSE was 66%. Knowledge about 
the SSES and other service involvement in CSE increased by 88% through the 
training. Further evaluation of the long term impact of training will be undertaken by 
surveying those who attended training from October 2013 to December 2014. 
 
The SSCB licensing manager has been instrumental in delivering training on CSE to 
the licensed trade. For a number of years, SSCB has been delivering CSE training to 
the taxi trade and have worked with Sheffield College to ensure that safeguarding 
training, including CSE, is delivered as part of the BTec qualification. SSCB's best 
practice model has been replicated by other authorities including Northern Ireland 
and the NSPCC. Along with national and local partners, they have won a number of 
awards for Operation Makesafe and were central in the development of NWG's Say 
Something if you see Something campaign. This training has been delivered to over 
350 people working in the hotel trade across South Yorkshire. 
 
Continuation of the CSE training programme is achieved through thematic CSE 
lunchtime seminars with topics including CSE and boys and Learning from Operation 
Alphabet. SSCB also provide a single-agency training pack with the recommendation 
that agencies use this as part of staff induction and refresher training. Social care 
workers will receive additional sessions and CSE is incorporated into social care 
induction training. Further training is available to Designated Safeguarding Leads 
working with children and young people in schools. Practitioners are encouraged to 
attend externally provided CSE training and conferences. Practitioners, as well as 
parents, can access SSCB's free of charge PACE eLearning CSE course Keep them 
Safe. The mobile phone application for children and young people discussed earlier 
will be available in the Spring of 2015. 
 

Page 28



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 19 

SSCB's e-safety manager delivers training to professionals, children, young people 
and their parents and carers. Over 100 parents attended a joint CSE/ e-safety event 
at a local secondary school. SSCB also delivers work in schools regarding online 
grooming, sexting and the use of social media sites. Much work has already been 
done in schools, with teachers, pupils, and parents, to raise awareness of the risks 
associated with using digital technology. The challenge for SSCB now is to roll this 
out to the wider community, whilst at the same time keeping abreast of new 
technological developments. 
 
Within individual agency workforce training strategies, the extent to which an agency, 
team or individual requires any training and development is identified as falling into 
one of three categories: essential; encouraged and preferential. SSCB believe and 
recommend that CSE training is a mandatory requirement for all practitioners, 
delivered alongside other safeguarding children modules. Through continuous 
professional development (CPD) practitioners will refresh and develop more 
specialist knowledge in relation to their roles. 
 
Assessment of the CSE training provided within Sheffield concludes that an 
extensive CSE training programme was, and continues to be, delivered to a high 
number of practitioners across a large number of agencies. Awareness campaigns 
and training have been delivered and continue to be available to members of key 
trades and to elected members, children, young people, parents and carers. 
Innovative ways are being developed to reach children, including the use of mobile 
technology. SSCB has been nationally recognised through awards, replication of 
their best practice and high attendance at CSE and Local Business - Sheffield Model 
seminars given to other LSCBs and Police forces. 
 
An area in need of development is to ensure proactive availability of CSE awareness 
material for children, young people, parents and carers in the main ethnic group 
languages spoken in Sheffield. The role of street champions and key members of 
community groups, in creating CSE awareness and breakdown of any 
communication barriers such as language and literacy, continues to be developed.  
 

 
Staff survey on CSE training and support  
 
Given the extensive SSCB CSE training programme and support available within 
Sheffield, this assessment asked if this had impacted on the confidence, knowledge 
and support of Sheffield's practitioners. A short survey was undertaken with a 
number of multi-agency practitioners. Those included in the survey were: social care, 
MAST, SSES and Community Youth Teams. Asking four questions, SSCB received 
responses from 340 individual professionals from across all agencies, representing a 
good response rate of 42%. 
 
The first question asked which part of their service respondents were from. Almost all 
respondents work directly with Sheffield's children and young people and a small 
number provide support services to those working in the community. Those 
supporting children in care within children's home settings were represented as well 
as: adult mental health services; social workers and their managers in a variety of 
teams; careers advice service; nursing services; community youth teams; out of 
hours emergency response teams; children with disability team; fostering; youth 
justice service (YJS) independent reviewing officers and children's centres. The 
number and diversity in respondents enabled SSCB to have confidence in the survey 
results and illustrated the spread of responsibility and activity for delivering CSE 
solutions. 

Page 29



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 20 

 
The second question asked "How confident are you that you can identify issues of 
child exploitation?" Over 94% of practitioner respondents said they were confident in 
identifying issues in relation to CSE.  
 
SSCB then asked "Have you had enough training to enable you to respond to issues 
of sexual exploitation?" Over 45% of respondents said they were confident they had 
received enough training. Many who said they had not received enough training, 
confirmed they had received CSE training and found it to be of good quality. Indeed, 
training undertaken by SSES was described as excellent. However professionals are 
keen to receive further training and in particular future refresher training, to update 
them on any new policies and procedures and enhance evidenced-based practice. 
As professionals implement learning from the training, they have begun to identify a 
need for more in-depth CSE knowledge and solutions relating to the specific field or 
community they are working in. Again this reflects Sheffield's learning culture. 
 
Recently-qualified social workers reported they had received training on CSE as part 
of their degree and some had student placements within specialist CSE provision. A 
number of specialist workers had undertaken further CSE training with agencies such 
as the NWG network and Lucy Faithful Foundation. The NWG network provides CSE 
research and knowledge updates to some respondents who had signed up to the 
scheme. Ensuring all professionals can link into networks such as these is a learning 
aim for Sheffield. 
 
Respondents had accessed CSE training through one or more of the main channels 
including: online modules; seminars; externally-provided training and conferences. 
Those attending safeguarding children training had overlapped with CSE elements 
also provided in these modules. The survey indicated that there is a need to ensure 
all new staff, and those moving roles, access CSE training early within their 
induction.  
 
Finally, SSCB asked "Do you get the support you need to respond to the issues of 
sexual exploitation?" Over 83% of respondents said yes they did receive enough 
support. Examples were provided by respondents of specific cases where advice and 
guidance had been sought.  
 
Sources of support included: the SSES team; Multi-Agency Support Teams (MAST); 
SSCB; managers; colleagues; YJS; Police; out of hours team; Taking Stock and 
Remedi. The SSES team were said to be professional, very approachable, 
welcoming calls and always being on hand to offer support and advice as and when 
required. Senior managers were reported as being very skilled in their knowledge 
and understanding of CSE. Supervision was cited as a good forum to seek support. 
One participant noted the need for more specialist foster placements for children and 
young people requiring accommodation by the local authority. This is being actioned 
by Sheffield through development of specialist foster carers, who can work with 
children and young people both at crisis points and through longer term therapeutic 
placements. As discussed previously, a bid to the DfE has been made to support this 
initiative, with the result due in January 2015. 
 
Some respondents said the question was not relevant, as they had not worked 
directly with a child vulnerable to CSE but would know where to go for guidance. A 
minority questioned the threshold for acceptance into SSES for risk assessment and 
the need to provide additional resources as CSE awareness created more demand. 
 

Page 30



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 21 

SSCB are pleased to see that such a large proportion of practitioners feel supported 
and confident in recognising the signs of CSE and know how to act upon these. 
SSCB's CSE training programme continues and as well as refresher training, staff 
are encouraged to access relevant specialist training as part of their continuous 
professional development. 
 

 
Evaluation of the outcomes of ten CSE cases managed via the CSE service 
 
Good safeguarding practice includes evaluating the complete journey of children and 
young people from first concerns to outcomes and impact of services at later stages. 
This allows SSCB and partners to look at what worked well, what can be improved 
and be applied again in evidenced-based best practice for those individuals and 
others accessing their services. Practitioners build up intrinsic knowledge and 
develop skills through experience in working with children and young people exposed 
to CSE. Case studies such as these are an effective way of assessing future 
strategic direction, developing staff and sharing best practice.  
 
SSCB selected ten cases of children and young people worked within the SSES 
since January 2014 from across: different ages; gender; presenting risks; time 
involved with services; ethnic background and area in which they live. The case 
review considered a number of stages of the journey including: how agencies first 
became aware of the risk; how practitioners engaged the child or young person; what 
support was provided and how this impacted on the children and young people. It 
was important to look at where that individual was in their journey in terms of reduced 
risk and the quality of their life. Of most importance was what children and young 
people told practitioners about their lives gained through direct work.  
 
All of the children and young people in the cohort were referred to SSES when they 
displayed CSE-associated risk taking behaviour. This evaluation demonstrated all 
met the criteria for input from the service. Many presented with a combination of the 
indicators of CSE risk and vulnerability. For example, one young person was: 
regularly missing from home; associating with known CSE offenders and victims; 
frequenting areas of concern; involved in criminal activity and not engaging with 
education or other services. A number of young people were referred when they 
were found associating with older males; displaying highly sexualised behaviour and 
having unaccounted-for money. Alcohol, drug misuse and self-harming were also 
presenting risks. Within SSCB's adopted definition of CSE, the cases reviewed 
illustrated that abuse was also occurring through the use of technology. Some young 
people were taking inappropriate pictures of themselves and being threatened these 
would be posted on social media sites. Additionally, social media sites were being 
used as a way of older males, both within and outside of Sheffield, contacting young 
people. A number of young people had learning difficulties and were at additional risk 
because they operated at a lower than chronological age. 
 
The evaluations demonstrated that children and young people need to have trust in 
those they disclose to. Trusting relationships were demonstrated with workers in a 
variety of situations, enabling children to disclose and be listened to. Sometimes 
young people opened up to people who were not their main workers. The key point 
was that they needed a gateway where practitioners could hear their voice and act 
on it. It is well evidenced that some children and young people can take time to tell 
professionals what is happening in their lives. Young people were sometimes found 
to be initially suspicious of workers, so techniques were used to build trust and keep 
the gateway open. This included sessions on building up self-esteem and addressing 
a lack of confidence. Children and young people would often avoid eye contact and 

Page 31



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 22 

needed constant reassurance that professionals were there to help them. Non-verbal 
tools, such as asking the young person to select descriptive cards, assisted in 
breaking down communication barriers. Sometimes this process took months, as the 
young person gradually understood they had an adult they could trust and work with. 
For those taken into local authority care, the case review found there were often 
further disclosures, including provision of information about alleged perpetrators, 
enabling Police to take action. Sheffield believe some children have still not disclosed 
everything that happened to them and continue to work with them. Where possible 
and appropriate, Sheffield included young people in key multi-agency meetings to 
discuss the risks they are exposed to and how they can all work to reduce these. 
 
In parallel to building relationships with the children and young people, Sheffield 
practitioners ensured that they helped them learn to say "No" and keep safe, 
including building an awareness of e-safety. They used resources such as the Blast 
Project, a film aimed at illustrating how boys are groomed and the in-house 
developed resource pack Friend or Foe which explores good and bad relationships. 
Direct work included ensuring children and young people had an opportunity to 
undertake positive activities including attending youth clubs, making new friends and 
building family trust to allow them to be allowed out alone. When young people 
presented with a high-level of need, the work undertaken often involved many 
agencies and services including: counselling; housing and return to education. 
Sheffield agencies also included parents and siblings in direct work when they 
presented with their own needs impacting on family stability. Whilst working with 
children and young people, families could experience other life events. The case 
reviews demonstrated additional appropriate support was provided during these 
periods. 
 
Ongoing emotional support is a major factor in helping children and young people to 
move on and deal with the impact of CSE alongside live events. For those attending 
court, the case review illustrated the high level of support provided prior, during and 
post criminal trials. Social workers sat alongside the young people as they gave 
evidence and there was good evidence of witness care including professionals being 
available day and night when help was needed. Post criminal trials, workers assisted 
young people in completing criminal injuries compensations claims and advocating 
for them with the Ministry of Justice. In Operation Alphabet the judge praised workers 
in the support provided to the young people stating the work undertaken by agencies 
was "a model of its kind".  
 
Incorporated in direct work, practitioners asked children and young people to reflect 
on the steps they had made. Children cried when they saw how far they had come in 
recognising and removing the risk-taking behaviour. Workers reinforced positive 
changes and told the children and young people how proud they were of their 
accomplishments. Sheffield empower children and young people in allowing them, 
where possible, to shape the direct work. For those with learning difficulties, progress 
could be slow; nonetheless progress was made and time was allowed for this. In the 
timescales of a few of the young people's journeys, risk reduced to an extent that 
social care involvement ceased and support was provided within the community.  
 
SSCB and partners can measure success when young people move onto successful 
adulthood, securing their own tenancies, attending education, ceasing criminal 
activity, becoming successful parents and having strong positive attitudes. SSCB 
have several examples of the impact their CSE strategy has in enabling successful 
transitions. A young person who was helped to move back to their old home town 
after receiving long term support in Sheffield came back to let their worker know how 
they were getting on. Over a coffee, they spoke of how the young person was in a 

Page 32



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 23 

better place. Another of the young people selected for this assessment has achieved 
many of the measures of success and now assists Sheffield with planning the 
strategic direction of their work. Furthermore, one of the young people included in 
this review of cases went to London to meet the Deputy Children's Commissioner 
and contributed to their enquiry into CSE in gangs and groups. Having input from 
those who have directly experienced CSE is invaluable. This CSE assessment will be 
hearing more from young people on how they think SSCB should develop services in 
the upcoming panel in November 2014.  
 
One area in need of development is a need for improvement in the availability of, and 
pathway into, mental health services, both for children and young people and into 
adulthood. This is a national issue which has been recognised through early 
established CSE work in cities including Sheffield. Some young people did not feel 
ready for counselling, however, in later life this may be essential to enable good 
mental health. Additionally, case studies illustrated that some children and young 
people would have benefitted from counselling and similar mental health services at 
the time of SSES intervention. Due to pressures of demand on the Interchange 
service, this was not available. For this reason, there is a recommendation that the 
pathway to mental health services is improved. Any provision must be able to provide 
a flexible service which reacts and responds to the needs of those impacted by CSE. 
 
Looking at ten journeys illustrated that children and young people receiving SSES 
input demonstrated all of the associated risk factors known to be present in SSCB's 
adopted definition of CSE. Through patient direct work, children can disclose and 
recover, building the resilience to move into a successful adulthood. The impact of 
CSE is long term and can be devastating to children and young people; as such 
receiving early identification, assessment and input is vital, as is building trusting 
relationships.  
 
 
In-depth audit of 32 cases of children and young people who received input 
from SSES 
 
Case audit involves systematic and independent assessments of the child's journey 
through services. The audit looked at adherence to policies and procedures and 
asked what went well and what could have been improved. An independent auditor 
worked alongside SCC's Principal Children and Families Social Worker to audit in-
depth 32 randomly selected cases. These were known to have had CSE risk in the 
last twelve months. Using an audit tool, the audit asked: if risk had been identified 
and responded to; about involvement of the children and young people; about quality 
of decision making, assessment and planning; if information had been effectively 
shared; about the quality of direct work undertaken and if applicable the suitability of 
a looked-after placement and longer term plans. 
 
The process of this in-depth audit confirmed findings in other work streams of this 
assessment, that information about a child's journey is held across many systems 
both within and across agencies. There is a need to be clear on who records and 
what is recorded, to reduce some duplication. Work is underway to address this; 
including assessing if CareFirst can be utilised as a central information system for 
recording of all CSE activity taking place for individual children and young people. 
This audit also confirmed that the vast majority of referrals to SSES were 
appropriate. A small number indicated SSCB and partners need to continue to 
ensure that the threshold for SSES input is clearly understood. 
 

Page 33



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 24 

In common with other local authorities, the audit found that a high number of referrals 
regarding CSE risk came from schools and colleges. Indeed, relationships between 
SSES and schools were seen to be particularly strong. When also referring to SSES, 
Police consistently used the appropriate form. All audited cases referred to SSES 
had received a CSE risk assessment. Areas in need of improvement included the 
need to utilise the child or young person's history to a greater extent and to ensure all 
children associated with any risk are fully considered. As found in other streams of 
this assessment, there is an identified need to be clearer about the purpose of all 
agency assessments and how they fit together throughout the child's journey. 
 
Preventative work with those considered to potentially be at risk of CSE was 
evidenced to be valuable and extensively undertaken. Case evidence demonstrated 
that SSES was found to provide an excellent direct work programme. Workers 
showed clear commitment to the young people and creative ways were used to 
engage them. The wishes and feelings of children and young people had been 
gathered and acted upon. Case direction is led, where possible, by the child and 
whilst good practice, it could lead, for a small number of lower level intervention 
cases, to drift if not acted upon. 
 
All cases open to social care had a plan in place. For some of the more complex 
cases, the number of professionals involved could be considerable and who was best 
placed to deliver direct work was determined. This is good practice, as research 
shows young people need to build trusting relationships with a small number of 
professionals. There was good evidence of communication between agencies and 
representation at relevant meetings. An area of improvement would be in the 
development of plan formats, to further help illustrate the impact direct work is having 
in reducing CSE risk. It would be possible to use the CSE risk assessment to 
measure risk at the start and end of intervention by the SSES.  
 
SSES social workers receive regular supervision. This is an important part of 
ensuring risk is managed and work with children and young people is focused. There 
is a need to change where supervision of the SSES social workers is recorded to 
ensure elements relating to individual cases are recorded in CareFirst. Supervision of 
the SSES social workers is under review to improve the impact it has on the quality 
of case management, as well as providing further support to workers in this difficult 
field of social work. 
 
The in-depth case audit has triangulated with findings from the other streams of this 
assessment. It has highlighted some areas in which SSES excel and some areas 
which they can further develop as part of the continuous programme to deliver a high 
quality service. 
 

 

Page 34



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 25 

How is Sheffield responding to the Jay recommendations? 
 
Alexis Jay's Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham, 
published in August 2014, further highlighted the need to scrutinise all aspects of 
governance and practice in relation to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE). On 
publication of the Jay report, SSCB and partners promptly conducted an internal 
audit of SSES's current practices, benchmarking Sheffield's practice against the 
fifteen recommendations from the Rotherham enquiry.  
 
Appendix C summarises Sheffield's evaluation against the Jay report's 
recommendations for Rotherham. This combines Sheffield's initial internal audit with 
the findings from this far-reaching CSE assessment. As SSCB had also recently 
conducted self-assessments with the Office of the Children's Commissioner and the 
NWG, these have also been included in the evaluation.  
 
SSCB have concluded that they and their partners strongly comply with the Jay 
recommendations. Indeed, many of the requirements have been embedded in 
Sheffield for a number of years, given the early and proactive response to CSE. 
Nonetheless, as part of the continuous improvement ethos, SSCB has identified a 
small number of areas for development. These triangulated with those found in this 
assessment and are detailed in the following section. Furthermore, although SSCB 
have determined Sheffield is compliant with the Jay recommendations, as part of 
their learning culture they strive to be better and deliver above and beyond the Jay 
recommendations. 

 

Areas of strength and for development 
 
This assessment has been far reaching in examining how Sheffield responds to CSE. 
SSCB has used a number of techniques to gather information, including views from 
professionals. The voice of the children and young people had, so far, come from 
case reviews; audits and professionals. Therefore, SSCB undertook a children and 
young people's panel in November 2014 to enhance their valued voice in this 
assessment and future planning. As this activity took place shortly before publication 
of this overview report, an addendum report on this valued activity is available in 
Appendix B. The panel outcomes will be used to shape future services and three 
more thematic panels are planned. 
 
The CSE assessment looked at many aspects including: leadership and governance; 
multi-agency CSE safeguarding self-assessment; compliance with Ofsted CSE 
thematic inspection Annex A requirements; evaluation of processes, procedures and 
tools; evaluation of the CSE training programme; staff survey on training and support; 
evaluation of ten cases managed via the SSES service and an audit of 32 cases of 
children and young people who received input from SSES.  
 
Detailed actions in progress from each of the strands of this assessment have been 
developed. Analysis of the information gained provides SSCB and partners with the 
following key recognised areas of strength and areas for development. 
 

Page 35



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 26 

Areas of strength  

Strategy, leadership and compliance 

1. CSE is a long standing key strategic priority for SSCB and partners. 
2. SSCB and partners strongly comply with the Jay recommendations and many 

of the requirements have been embedded in Sheffield for many years, given 
the early and proactive response to CSE. 

3. Prevention; protecting; pursuing and prosecuting are at the heart of the CSE 
strategy. 

4. Sheffield has a history and evidence of being willing to tackle and confront 
difficult issues, regardless or any gender or ethnicity implications. 

5. Reducing the impact of CSE on children and young people is central to all 
activity. 

6. Sheffield has effective leadership and governance arrangements discharging 
their statutory obligations. 

7. There is a culture of openness; questioning and professional challenge 
supported by robust policies and procedures. 

8. SSCB and partners operate in a learning environment evaluating and 
adapting services to children and young people. 

9. Evolution of services and timely actions to address dynamic and complex 
demographics.  

10. SSES manager now part of a multi-agency case review panel to add in CSE 
elements and intelligence. 
 

Quality assurance and recognition of the CSE service 
11. Ofsted recognition of SSCB in effectively responding in partnership to CSE.  
12. The SSES is long established and recognised as good practice by Ofsted and 

HMIC.   
13. Operation Alphabet was recognised by the judge as a model of its kind, due 

to diligent work including partnership working and support provided to victims. 
 

Policy and process 
14. CSE activity is supported by a robust and frequently-refreshed suite of 

policies and procedures. 
15. SSCB and partners demonstrate good compliance with Ofsted's CSE 

thematic inspection Annex A data and documentation requirements. 
16. Agencies and partners reference and signpost staff to SSCB policies and 

procedures, which provide guidance on the management of CSE.  
17. The CSE self-assessment indicated that all agencies had a safeguarding 

lead, the majority also led on CSE. 
18. All agencies and many schools have a good understanding of the referral 

process for CSE cases. 
19. All agencies and schools have information-sharing protocols and actively 

encourage staff to attend multi-agency meetings, contribute to and deliver the 
plan. 

20. Robust action has been taken to deal with CSE in all areas of licensing 
regulatory requirements. 

 
CSE Awareness programmes and training 

21. CSE training and awareness programmes have reached over 1700 
practitioners, is recognised as best practice and been adopted nationally. 

22. E-safety training and awareness programmes are delivered to professionals; 
children and young people and parents. 

23. The voluntary, community and faith sector have been included in CSE 
training; planning and delivery. 

Page 36



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 27 

24. The impact of CSE training noted through increased referrals to SSES and 
participants' acknowledgement of enhanced understanding. 

25. CSE awareness literature is available to children and young people; parents; 
carers and practitioners utilising innovative communication channels. 

26. SSCB and partners believe it is important to deliver CSE awareness to all of 
the community, regardless of gender or ethnic group. 

27. CSE awareness programmes are delivered to a variety of public audiences 
including BME community groups. 

 
Practitioner activity 

28. Practitioners and managers are able to recognise the indicators of risk and 
vulnerability of CSE and when to refer children and young people to SSES. 

29. Practitioners requesting and undergoing continuous professional 
development to enhance their understanding of CSE and how to effectively 
support children and young people. 

30. Over 83% of practitioner respondents to the survey said they received 
enough support to respond to the issues of CSE. 

31. Over 94% of practitioner respondents said they were confident in identifying 
issues in relation to CSE. 

32. Case evaluations and audits demonstrated innovative and effective means of 
engaging with children and young people who have been subject to CSE. 

33. Children from all ethnic groups; gender and presenting CSE risks are referred 
to SSES. 

34. SSCB and SSES have strong links with schools, who are the highest source 
of referrals. 

35. All children and young people referred to SSES had received a CSE 
assessment. 
 

Work with children and young people 
36. Work with children and young people around CSE spans across the spectrum 

of nationally-recognised thresholds from addressing need through universal 
services; Team around the Child; Child in Need (CiN); Child Protection (CP) 
and at the far end of the need spectrum to children in care (LAC) at the most 
risk, including providing secure accommodation. 

37. Sheffield have a recognised Community Youth Model of working with the 
children and young people. 

38. Sheffield give children a safe space and time to talk about their experiences. 
39. Sheffield builds trusting and supporting relationships with children and young 

people, ensuring the most appropriate professionals deliver direct work. 
40. Practitioners will try to ensure children and young people strongly influence 

the direction of work undertaken with them. 
41. Practitioners ensure children learn to say "No" and deliver Keep Safe work 

right from the start of their relationship with them. 
42. Sheffield supports the whole family in the child's journey. 
43. Sheffield agencies have exit strategies from the different levels of support and 

ensure children and young people's cases only close to social care when risk 
has sufficiently reduced. 

44. Children and young people are involved in the development of CSE services 
through panels and one-to-one input. Sheffield children and young people 
also contribute to the consultation work of Office of the Children's 
Commissioner. Future thematic panels are planned. 

 
 

 

Page 37



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 28 

Areas for development 

Strategy, leadership and compliance 

1. SSCB need to continue to provide those who serve on scrutiny and licensing 
panels with sufficient CSE awareness and knowledge to enable effective 
independent challenge and decision making. 

2. SSCB need to ensure that all elected members, leaders and practitioners are 
aware of further CSE learning resources, including the National Working 
Group network. 

3. SSCB and SSES to co-ordinate a portfolio and timetable for reports and 
bulletins to inform relevant audiences including the SSCB Operational and 
Executive Boards; Scrutiny; agencies and schools, of CSE activity. 

 
Policy, process and systems 

4. Education advisors to provide a specific CSE policy for all schools and other 
groups such as MAST, faith sector and voluntary agencies etc. 

5. SSCB to provide an information-sharing factsheet and checklist to schools. 
6. As part of the review of front door services, ensure closer alignment of the 

Sheffield Joint Investigation Team; social care and SSES and clarify 
terminology and pathways used. 

7. Clinical supervision to be provided for SSES support workers. 
8. Continuation of development of the CSE assessment tool, in particular 

looking at alternatives to scoring systems. 
9. Clearer pathway to, and greater availability of, health services for those 

children and young people who are impacted by CSE.  
10. Practitioners will be reminded of the purpose and interaction of the many 

single and multi-agency assessments used when working with children and 
young people.  

11. Undertake a benchmark of investigation and prosecution statistics against 
other authorities. 

12. Further improve effective recording: 
a. CareFirst to be utilised as a central information system for recording of 

all CSE activity taking place for individual children and young people. 
Access at appropriate levels to be provided to those working with 
children and young people. 

b. Rationalisation of information systems to reduce resource heavy data 
extraction for CSE profiling. 

c. Record the ethnicity of all alleged offenders, to facilitate profiling. 
 
CSE awareness and training 

13. SSCB and educational advisors to provide a CSE training pathway for 
agencies and schools and to secure consistent high quality referrals. 

14. SSCB and SSES, together with partners, to further develop CSE awareness 
in schools and all communities within Sheffield including ethnic minority 
communities, leveraging on available networks and resources. 

15. Proactive availability of CSE awareness material in the main languages 
spoken in Sheffield to run alongside verbal messages. 

16. Guidance to be provided to practitioners on the relevant powers, duties and 
toolkits to aid engagement with 16/ 17 year olds who refuse to engage and 
parents who do not perceive risk. 

 
 

Page 38



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 29 

Conclusion 
 
CSE has a devastating impact on the lives of children and young people, together 
with those of their families. Working with the communities of Sheffield, SSCB has a 
responsibility to ensure that they effectively handle CSE and continue to support 
those who have been subject to it. SSCB and partners will continue to prevent, 
protect, pursue and prosecute regardless of the gender or ethnicity of the perpetrator 
or victim. Sheffield has pioneered and commissioned services such as the SSES, 
opened in 2001, and has been recognised for good practice by Ofsted and HMIC.  
 
The author of this overview report spent a number of weeks analysing evidence and 
working alongside some of those who are responsible for the strategic development 
and delivery of CSE services in Sheffield. The author gained a strong sense of 
seamless working together, partnership and joint ownership in dealing with CSE. 
Sheffield don't want to just comply with minimum standards, they want to excel in the 
service they deliver to children and young people. They are aware of their strengths 
and areas for development and take action where needed. As Sheffield are 
advanced in their CSE solution delivery, they are breaking new ground and 
overcoming barriers, which many other authorities have yet to realise.  
 
Of particular note was that the work with children and young people around CSE 
spanned the spectrum of nationally-recognised thresholds and that prevention was 
extensively promoted across Sheffield. Practitioners are highly child and young 
person-focussed, including allowing, where possible, direct work to be guided by 
them. They innovate and source solutions to engage and help those impacted by 
CSE and develop trusting relationships, allowing the necessary time for this to 
happen. Those affected by CSE also help shape future services through consultation 
and national representation of their voice. 
 
As a partnership, SSCB recognise that continuous learning is required to react to 
Sheffield's dynamic population and ever increasing evidenced based best practice in 
dealing with CSE. Sheffield City Councillors requested this assessment as part of 
their learning culture and SSCB have co-ordinated the response. Whilst recognising 
the strengths, SSCB and partners have already begun to address the areas for 
development identified in this assessment. Agencies will be working together to 
deliver on an action plan, whilst continuing to listen to those who have the strongest 
voice, that of the children and young people who have been impacted by CSE. 
 

 
Dr Kathryn A. Houghton, Safer Outlook Consulting Ltd. 
November 2014. 

 

Page 39



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 30 

Glossary 

ACPO Association of Chief Police Officers 
CAFCASS Children and Family Court Advisory Service 
CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 
CE Chief Executive 
CEOP Child Exploitation and Online Protection 
CiN Child In Need 
CP Child Protection 
CPD Continuous Professional Development 
CSE Child Sexual Exploitation 
CYT Community Youth Teams 
DCS Director of Children’s Services 
DfE Department for Education 
FCAF Family Common Assessment Framework 
HMIC Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary 
JIT Joint Inspection Team (SCC & SYP) 
LAC Children in Care 
LMCS Lead Member for Children’s Services 
MAST Multi-Agency Support Teams 
NWG National Working Group for Sexually Exploited Children 
OCC Office for Children’s Commissioner 
PACE Parents against Child Sexual Exploitation 
SCC Sheffield City Council 
SIF Ofsted Single Inspection Framework 
SSCB Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board 
SSES Sheffield Sexual Exploitation Service 
YJS Youth Justice Services 
 

Page 40



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 31 

Appendix A: Sheffield Sexual Exploitation Service 
 

Sheffield Sexual Exploitation Service is a co-located, multi-agency service 
responsible for tackling child sexual exploitation in Sheffield. The service currently 
sits within Sheffield Futures – a young persons’ charity. The service comprises of 
Sheffield Futures youth workers and administrative support staff, South Yorkshire 
Police officers and missing person’s officers, Sheffield City Council social work staff 
and a Barnardos support worker. The service is managed by a Sheffield Futures 
Service Manager. 
 
The service also works in partnership with the Sheffield Safeguarding Childrens 
Board, the NSPCC and the Community Youth Teams – who deliver preventative 
work to those young people identified as being at lower risk of exploitation. In 2013-
14 the service has successfully implemented a new model of working aimed at better 
meeting the current needs of children and young people and the demands placed on 
child sexual exploitation services. This model was developed in response to learning 
from ACPO, Rochdale, OCC and other serious case reviews in respect of CSE. 
Again this reflects a culture in Sheffield of continuously reviewing service delivery. 
 
During 2013-14 the service has successfully integrated social workers to carry out 
risk assessments on all referrals. A family intervention worker post has also been 
created within the service to help support parents/carers and the siblings of those 
young people referred to the service. The service has also successfully integrated 
the Barnardos support worker – who has added further resilience to the one-to-one 
provision the service can provide.  
 
The service works to address sexual exploitation on four key principals; prevention, 
protection, pursuit and prosecution. The service works with partner agencies to 
prevent sexual exploitation by raising awareness of issues with professionals, 
businesses, communities and young people. Youth workers and social care staff 
from the service, alongside the police, are responsible for protecting young people 
who are identified as being, or at risk of being, sexually exploited.  
 
In 2013-14 SSES received 213 referrals regarding young people at risk of CSE. This 
was a significant increase from 85 referrals in 2012-13, however this is in context of 
increased awareness of CSE due to high profile cases nationally and awareness 
raising training delivered by the Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB) to 
over 1700 frontline staff, as well as nationally recognised work with hotel staff and 
taxi drivers to increase knowledge and reporting of CSE. Of those 213 cases referred 
to SSES 52 young people were identified as medium/high risk following assessment. 
 
The service is victim-focused and supports young people from all communities, 
recent figures show that 69% of the service’s referrals relate to White-British young 
people. The service is pleased that over 25% of young people referred are from BME 
backgrounds, which bucks national trends for under-reporting of CSE from these 
communities. The service does not currently record information on perpetrators but 
information relating the ethnicity of those perpetrators identified should be available 
from South Yorkshire Police. The service has responded to specific requests to 
engage communities with regard to CSE and has delivered awareness raising 
sessions in Fir Vale, Darnall and the city centre.  
 
Sheffield has a longstanding commitment to tackling CSE. Historically the SSES has 
submitted itself for scrutiny from organisations such as CEOP, The Office of the 

Page 41



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 32 

Children’s Commissioner and the National Working Group on Child Sexual 
Exploitation (NWG) and has been seen as a pioneer service. The SSES was recently 
visited by the NWG who wrote a very positive blog on the service and the work 
carried out. 
 
The SSES has been inspected by both Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary 
(HMIC) and OFSTED in the past twelve months with both inspections acknowledging 
the service’s work and that of partner agencies. HMIC published the findings of an 
inspection into South Yorkshire Police’s response to child sexual exploitation in 
November 2013. Within the report The Sheffield Sexual Exploitation Service was 
identified as a model of best practice with regard to partnership working. 
 
“The multi-agency working arrangements within the Sheffield Sexual Exploitation 
Scheme were found to be thorough, and child-focused, and to provide good 
outcomes for children.”   
 
OFSTED reported: 
 
“Children at risk of sexual exploitation are quickly identified. This is supported by a 
range of innovative work, for example with taxi drivers and hotel staff, to increase 
their awareness of children and young people who may be at risk of exploitation.” 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 33 

Appendix B 
 

Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board 

CSE Assessment - Young People's Panel Report 
 
The CSE assessment panel when setting the terms of reference were keen to ensure 
that the voices of young people were clearly heard and formed an integral part of the 
process. 
 
A focus group of young people will meet with the panel members to inform the review 
of the most effective means of agencies engaging, supporting and raising awareness 
with young people.  
 
This was seen as an opportunity to have an open dialogue between strategic leaders 
from key organisations with responsibility for responding to Child Sexual Exploitation 
and a representative group of young people from across the city.   
 
The young people were drawn from a range of participation groups across the city 
and had differing levels of knowledge and awareness about Child Sexual 
Exploitation. In preparation two awareness raising sessions were held, where they 
also had the opportunity to explore the findings from the Jay Report and compose 
questions that they wished to put to the panel.  
 
On 20th November ten young people met with the CSE Review Panel and South 
Yorkshire Police representatives, comprising of; 

· Sue Fiennes, Independent Chair of Sheffield Safeguarding Board 

· Cllr Jackie Drayton, Lead Member for Children and Families 

· Jayne Ludlam, Director of Children’s Services 

· Kevin Clifford, Chief Nurse, Clinical Commissioning Group 

· Scott Green, Superintendent for Sheffield, South Yorkshire Police 

· Jane Fidler, Detective Sergeant, Sexual Exploitation Team, South Yorkshire 

Police  

The young people asked the panel the following questions:   
 
 Q. How are the police/CPS improving how they collect evidence to ensure they can 
prosecute perpetrators? 
 
A. This first stance in these cases is the belief in what the victim is saying to us. 
There is a lot of work required to gather all the evidence and the police look for any 
corroborating evidence that supports the victim’s disclosures. The police conduct 
rigorous interviews with the victim which isn’t always easy especially with the 
complexities of CSE. Gaining the trust of the victim to make a disclosure can take 
time; there are many hurdles to overcome. The police work very closely with the CPS 
and provide them with the evidence files so they can make the decision about 
prosecution. 
 
It’s a team effort and other agencies also help in the gathering of information, like 
providing car registration numbers, names of contacts etc.  
There is always room for improvement and we learn lessons from previous 
investigations.  We recognise that continuing work is required with the judiciary 
system to explain to barristers and judges the complexities of CSE.           

Page 43



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 34 

Q. How are young people supported as victims and witnesses who provides this 
support and how is it accessed? 
 
A. There is specialised support within the Sexual Exploitation Service (SSES) and 
within other agencies to provide the victims and witnesses with support. The police 
and other agencies work together to provide ongoing support. Where necessary 
therapeutic counselling can be provided. 
 
Q Is there extra safeguarding in place within care homes in Sheffield to protect the 
most vulnerable? 
 
A. Yes. We know that this group of young people can be vulnerable to sexual 
exploitation and that perpetrators may target children's homes. We make sure that all 
our foster carers and the staff in children's homes have specific training on CSE so 
that they can recognise the signs and indicators and know where to go to get 
support. There are also link police officers with all the children's homes and links with 
the Sexual Exploitation Service.  
 
For children in our care we act as a corporate parent so we have responsibility to 
make sure they are protected, feel loved, cared and supported. 
  
 Q. What is the current conviction rate when CSE is disclosed? 
 
A. The panel didn’t have the figures available at the panel to answer this question but 
will provide the young people with the data.  
 
We know that the figure is lower than we would like and CSE cases are difficult in 
court. We are working with the courts to increase the level of knowledge and 
understanding of juries, judges and barristers about the complexities of CSE. We are 
also trying to introduce expert evidence so that juries receive a better understanding 
of how a victim of CSE may behave.  
 
Q. What are the demographics of the known perpetrators and victims? 
 
A. Recent national research tells us that 70-75% of victims are female, although 
there has been a recent increase in male victims coming forward. 75% of victims 
reported are White British but we know that there is an under-reporting nationally of 
victims from BME backgrounds. In Sheffield however, we have had some success in 
victims from the Asian and Eastern European community coming forward.      
Again national research tells us that perpetrators are predominantly White British with 
29% coming from an Asian background  
 
 Q. What training around CSE are professionals getting? Police, Social workers, 
Teachers etc? 
 
A. Last year 1700 professionals received CSE awareness raising in Sheffield, this 
included social workers, foster carers, children's home's workers, police, and health 
workers. This looked at how professionals would recognise the signs and indicators, 
and how to refer. Workers like teachers also get this as part of their safeguarding 
training. We know from a staff survey that professionals want to know more about 
this – they want to learn and become more aware. For some staff like in health and 
the police this is mandatory training, they have to do this.  
 
If a group of workers in an organisation had not undertaken CSE training we would 
be aware of this and would take this up with that organisation to offer them training.     

Page 44



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 35 

In Sheffield we have also done training with the licensed trade, like hotels and taxi 
drivers, so that they can recognise the signs and report concerns.  
 
Q. Are PCSO/Police officers still based or connected to schools? Do you think this 
would benefit the school and the young people? 
 
A. Yes, junior schools all have a linked PCSO. For secondary schools we have linked 
Children and Young People Officers who are located with the Community Youth 
Teams. Despite funding issues for the police this is seen as an important role so they 
will remain in post. Although their role in CSE is important this also allows 
engagement between the police and young people. 
 
Q. CSE is serious organised crime. How is Sheffield going to carry on funding all this 
work? 
 
A. All partner agencies and Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board are committed to 
tackling CSE and funding the Sexual Exploitation Service. Over the last year 
additional funding has been provided to the service. We are all facing funding cuts 
but we will definitely continue this level of investment. We may have to look at 
different ways of working, for example providing additional resources rather than 
finances. We may see an increase in demand as there is further awareness of CSE 
so we would have to ask partners for an additional investment of funding or 
resources.   
 
Q. Could we have more CCTV around particular areas- are there ‘hotspots’ in 
Sheffield? 
 
A. CCTV is useful but only forms part of the story, cannot prove a crime but the 
police use it as part of the evidence. Sheffield City Council controls the CCTV 
cameras for the city. The panel felt that there were already an adequate number of 
cameras across the city.    
    
Q. What work is being done with all communities to raise awareness of CSE in 
particular hard to reach communities? 
 
A. Sheffield has a diverse community with 34% of children entering our schools, at 
reception, from BME communities. Our aim is to work with the communities to 
educate and raise awareness in the same way the Safeguarding Children Board has 
recently worked with the Madrasahs to raise awareness about the use of physical 
chastisement and discipline.  
 
Q.Is there any work being done to educate the perpetrators? 
 
A. For adult offenders this would be undertaken by the Probation services. There is  
a growing awareness nationally about peer on peer abuse and in Sheffield we have a 
dedicated Sexually Harmful Behaviour (SHB) team that works with young people who 
have been identified as having committed or being at risk of committing SHB. They 
provide intensive therapeutic support to young people and their families. In addition 
the police officers located in the Community Youth Teams are currently going into 
schools to warn young people of the dangers of sexting.  
 
As a society we need to address the position of young women and how they are 
viewed. There is a need to educate young people that we all deserve respect and a 
challenge to how the images of young women are presented.  
 

Page 45



An Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield November 2014 
Overview Report: Issue 1.1 Nov 14 

Page 36 

 Q.  What is the role of the Safeguarding Children Board in holding other agencies to 
account? 
 
A. As part of the CSE review the Safeguarding Children Board undertook a self-
assessment with board partners and schools. There was a good response rate, with 
all board partners responding. If we had had a poor return rate we would have 
pursued this and taken action. Partners on the safeguarding board hold each other to 
account and it is important that we have an independent chair who is well respected. 
It is about strong challenge, holding services to account to ensure things change. 
 
Unfortunately, because of the quality of the discussion there was not enough time for 
the panel to put their questions to the young people. Further discussions and focus 
groups are being planned to look at: 
 

· Educate – Who should we eduate about CSE, where, at what age, and who 

should lead this, what are your views on peer educators. 

· Campaign – If we were to run a successful campaign to raise awareness of 

CSE with young people how we go about this, what form would it take – 

posters, phone apps, social media. 

· Digital technology – Thus can be a very positive influence but we also know 

about the dangers of online grooming, sexting etc – how do we protect young 

people when they use digital technology.

Page 46



A
n

 A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

C
h

ild
 S

e
x
u

a
l 
E

x
p

lo
it
a

ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

4
 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 R

e
p

o
rt

: 
Is

s
u

e
 1

.1
 N

o
v
 1

4
 

P
a

g
e

 3
7

 

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 C

: 
 H

o
w

 i
s
 S

h
e

ff
ie

ld
 r

e
s

p
o

n
d

in
g

 t
o

 t
h

e
 J

a
y
 r

e
c

o
m

m
e

n
d

a
ti

o
n

s
?

 
 R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 1

: 
S

e
n

io
r 

m
a

n
a

g
e

rs
 s

h
o

u
ld

 e
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
re

 a
re

 u
p

-t
o

-d
a
te

 r
is

k
 a

s
s

e
s

s
m

e
n

ts
 o

n
 a

ll
 c

h
il

d
re

n
 a

ff
e

c
te

d
 b

y
 C

S
E

. 
T

h
e

s
e

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 o

f 
c

o
n

s
is

te
n

tl
y
 h

ig
h

 q
u

a
li
ty

 a
n

d
 c

le
a
rl

y
 r

e
c

o
rd

e
d

 o
n

 t
h

e
 c

h
il
d

’s
 f

il
e
. 

 
 In

fo
rm

e
d
 b

y
 e

v
id

e
n

c
e
d
-b

a
s
e

d
 b

e
s
t 
p

ra
c
ti
c
e
, 

S
S

C
B

 a
n
d

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
a
lly

 d
e
v
e

lo
p
 t

h
e
 C

S
E

 r
is

k
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 
to

o
l 
fo

r 
a

ll 
c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 

p
e
o

p
le

 a
ff

e
c
te

d
 b

y
 C

S
E

. 
T

h
is

 e
n
s
u

re
s
 a

 f
o

u
n

d
a

ti
o
n

 f
o
r 

h
ig

h
 q

u
a
lit

y
 w

o
rk

. 
C

S
E

 a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d

 b
y
 d

e
d

ic
a

te
d
 S

S
E

S
 s

o
c
ia

l 
w

o
rk

e
rs

, 
e

n
a

b
lin

g
 c

o
n
s
is

te
n
c
y
 a

n
d

 q
u

a
lit

y
. 

S
S

E
S

 p
ro

v
id

e
s
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 g

u
id

a
n

c
e
 t
o
 t

h
o
s
e
 s

u
p
p

ly
in

g
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
 i
n

to
 t

h
e
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t,

 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h

e
y
 f

u
lly

 
a

s
s
e
s
s
 r

is
k
. 

S
S

E
S

 n
o
w

 o
p
e

ra
te

 r
e
g

u
la

r 
q

u
a
lit

y
 a

s
s
u
ra

n
c
e

 a
u

d
it
s
 t
o

 e
n
s
u

re
 e

x
p

e
c
te

d
 h

ig
h

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 m

e
t 
a

n
d

 a
c
t 
o

n
 a

n
y
 f

in
d
in

g
s
. 

 
 C

o
m

p
le

te
d

 r
is

k
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 r
e

c
o
rd

e
d
 o

n
 t

h
e
 c

h
ild

's
 f

ile
 i
n

 C
a

re
F

ir
s
t 
(s

o
c
ia

l 
c
a

re
's

 r
e

c
o

rd
in

g
 s

y
s
te

m
) 

a
n
d
 S

S
E

S
 t
ri
a
g

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 r
is

k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 i
n

 r
e
g

u
la

r 
m

u
lt
i-
a
g

e
n
c
y
 m

e
e

ti
n
g

s
. 
In

 S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

4
, 
S

S
E

S
 i
n

tr
o

d
u

c
e
d
 a

 m
o

re
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e

 m
e

th
o

d
 o

f 
re

c
o

rd
in

g
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
ts

 o
n
 

b
o
th

 P
o

lic
e

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
 s

y
s
te

m
s
 a

n
d
 C

a
re

F
ir
s
t.
 T

h
is

 a
llo

w
s
 S

S
E

S
 t

o
 m

o
re

 e
a
s
ily

 m
o

n
it
o

r 
c
h

a
n
g

e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 l
e

v
e

l 
o

f 
ri
s
k
 f

o
r 

e
a
c
h

 c
a

s
e

 a
n
d
 k

e
e
p
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 u
p

-t
o
-d

a
te

. 
 R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 2

: 
T

h
e

 n
u

m
e

ri
c

 s
c

o
ri

n
g

 t
o

o
l 
s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 k

e
p

t 
u

n
d

e
r 

re
v
ie

w
. 

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a

l 
ju

d
g

e
m

e
n

ts
 a

b
o

u
t 

ri
s

k
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 c

le
a
rl

y
 

re
c

o
rd

e
d

 w
h

e
re

 t
h

e
s

e
 a

re
 n

o
t 

a
d

e
q

u
a
te

ly
 c

a
p

tu
re

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 n

u
m

e
ri

c
 t

o
o

l.
 

 S
S

C
B

 a
n
d

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 h
a
v
e

 s
h

a
re

d
 A

le
x
is

 J
a

y
's

 c
o

n
c
e

rn
s
 r

e
g

a
rd

in
g

 t
h

e
 n

u
m

e
ri
c
a
l 
s
c
o

ri
n
g

 s
y
s
te

m
 s

in
c
e
 i
n

c
e
p

ti
o
n

 o
f 
th

e
 r

is
k
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 
to

o
l.
 

T
h

e
y
 h

a
v
e

 t
a
k
e

n
 p

a
rt

 i
n

 r
e

v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 S

o
u
th

 Y
o
rk

s
h

ir
e

 r
is

k
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
to

o
l 
a

n
d

 c
o

n
tr

ib
u
te

d
 t
o

 i
ts

 r
e
d

e
s
ig

n
. 

T
h

e
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 
is

 r
e
g

u
la

rl
y
 

d
is

c
u

s
s
e
d

 a
t 
th

e
 S

o
u
th

 Y
o

rk
s
h

ir
e

 C
S

E
 f

o
ru

m
 a

n
d

 i
n

 S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

3
, 
th

e
 n

u
m

e
ri
c
 s

c
o

ri
n
g

 s
y
s
te

m
 w

a
s
 c

h
a

n
g

e
d

. 
In

 S
S

E
S

 t
ri
a

g
e

 m
e

e
ti
n
g

s
, 

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a

l 
ju

d
g

e
m

e
n
t 
is

 a
s
s
e
s
s
e

d
 a

lo
n
g

s
id

e
 s

c
o

re
s
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
rd

e
d

. 
 R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 3

: 
M

a
n

a
g

e
rs

 s
h

o
u

ld
 d

e
v

e
lo

p
 a

 m
o

re
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
p

p
ro

a
c

h
 t

o
 p

ro
te

c
ti

n
g

 l
o

o
k
e

d
 a

ft
e

r 
c

h
il

d
re

n
 w

h
o

 a
re

 s
e
x

u
a

ll
y
 

e
x
p

lo
it

e
d

. 
T

h
is

 m
u

s
t 

in
c

lu
d

e
 t

h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
o

u
t-

o
f-

a
re

a
 p

la
c
e
m

e
n

ts
. 
T

h
e

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 s
h

o
u

ld
 w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 o

th
e
r 

a
u

th
o

ri
ti

e
s
 t

o
 m

in
im

is
e
 t

h
e
 r

is
k
s

 
o

f 
s

e
x

u
a
l 

e
x
p

lo
it

a
ti

o
n

 t
o

 a
ll
 c

h
il

d
re

n
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
o

s
e
 l
iv

in
g

 i
n

 p
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 w

h
e
re

 t
h

e
y

 m
a

y
 b

e
c

o
m

e
 e

x
p

o
s

e
d

 t
o

 C
S

E
. 

T
h

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 

s
h

o
u

ld
 i
n

c
lu

d
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

d
 a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
 f

o
r 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 c
h

il
d

re
n

 i
n

 o
u

t-
o

f-
a

re
a
 p

la
c

e
m

e
n

ts
 w

h
e
n

 t
h

e
y
 r

e
q

u
ir

e
 l
e

a
v

in
g

 c
a

re
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 h
a
v
e

 c
a

rr
ie

d
 o

u
t 

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 
w

o
rk

 t
o
 p

ro
te

c
t 

lo
o
k
e

d
 a

ft
e

r 
c
h

ild
re

n
 w

h
o
 a

re
 a

t 
ri
s
k
, 

o
r 

h
a
v
e

 b
e
e

n
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 C
S

E
. 

A
s
 a

 r
e

s
p
o

n
s
ib

le
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
a

re
n
t,

 t
h

e
y
 h

a
v
e

 u
ti
lis

e
d
 l
e

a
rn

in
g

 f
ro

m
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 s

e
x
u

a
l 
e

x
p

lo
it
a

ti
o

n
 c

a
s
e

s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 O

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
 A

lp
h
a

b
e

t.
 S

C
C

, 
th

e
re

fo
re

, 
o

n
ly

 p
la

c
e
 

c
h

ild
re

n
 o

u
t-

o
f-

a
re

a
 a

ft
e

r 
th

e
y
 h

a
v
e

 c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
 o

th
e
r 

o
p
ti
o

n
s
 a

n
d
 f

a
c
to

r 
in

 t
h

e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 
ri
s
k
 o

f 
is

o
la

ti
n

g
 t
h

a
t 

y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
rs

o
n
 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 g

o
o
d
 

Page 47



A
n

 A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

C
h

ild
 S

e
x
u

a
l 
E

x
p

lo
it
a

ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

4
 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 R

e
p

o
rt

: 
Is

s
u

e
 1

.1
 N

o
v
 1

4
 

P
a

g
e

 3
8

 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 n
e
tw

o
rk

s
 t
h

e
y
 o

ff
e

r 
in

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

. 
S

S
E

S
 h

a
v
e

 l
in

k
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 w
it
h

 e
v
e

ry
 c

h
ild

re
n

's
 h

o
m

e
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

. 
S

ta
ff

 w
o

rk
in

g
 i
n
 t

h
e
s
e

 e
s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n
ts

, 
fo

s
te

r 
c
a
re

rs
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 V

ir
tu

a
l 
S

c
h

o
o

l 
h

a
v
e

 r
e

c
e
iv

e
d
 C

S
E

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
. 

S
C

C
 w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

 u
s
e

 s
e

c
u
re

 p
la

c
e
m

e
n
ts

 w
h

e
n

 t
h

is
 i
s
 

a
p
p

ro
p

ri
a
te

 a
n
d

 o
n
ly

 a
ft

e
r 

c
a
re

fu
l 
c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
. 

 S
S

C
B

 a
n
d

 S
C

C
 w

o
rk

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h

 n
e

ig
h

b
o

u
ri
n
g

 a
n

d
 o

th
e
r 

lo
c
a
l 
a

u
th

o
ri
ti
e

s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 s

u
b
m

it
ti
n
g

 a
 j
o

in
t 

b
id

 f
o
r 

a
 "

h
u
b

 a
n

d
 s

p
o

k
e
" 

p
ro

je
c
t 
w

h
ic

h
 

w
ill

 s
h

a
re

 g
o

o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 i
n

 d
e

a
lin

g
 w

it
h

 C
S

E
. 

S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 a
w

a
it
s
 t
h

e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 o

f 
s
e

v
e

ra
l 
fu

n
d

in
g
 a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o
n

s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 o

n
e

 t
o

 t
h
e

 D
fE

 S
o

c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 
In

n
o

v
a

ti
o
n

 F
u

n
d
 i
n

 w
h

ic
h

 t
h

e
y
 p

ro
p

o
s
e
 t
o

 d
e
v
e

lo
p
 s

p
e
c
ia

lis
t 
fo

s
te

r 
c
a
re

rs
, 
w

h
o
 c

a
n
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 b
o
th

 a
t 
c
ri
s
is

 p
o
in

ts
 

a
n
d

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 l
o
n
g

e
r 

te
rm

 t
h

e
ra

p
e

u
ti
c
 p

la
c
e
m

e
n
ts

. 
T

h
e
re

 w
ill

 a
ls

o
 b

e
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 w

ra
p

 a
ro

u
n

d
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 

th
o
s
e

 i
n
 c

a
re

. 
 A

ll 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 q

u
a

lif
y
 f

o
r 

th
e
 l
e

a
v
in

g
 c

a
re

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 a

n
d

 a
re

 p
la

c
e
d

 o
u

t 
o
f 

a
re

a
 h

a
v
e

 a
 d

e
s
ig

n
a

te
d

 p
e
rs

o
n
a

l 
a

d
v
is

o
r 

to
 t
h

e
 a

g
e
 o

f 
2

1
+

. 
T

h
e
y
 w

ill
 e

n
g

a
g

e
 t

h
e
m

 i
n
 a

p
p

ro
p
ri

a
te

 s
e
rv

ic
e

s
 w

h
e

re
v
e

r 
th

e
y
 a

re
 l
iv

in
g

, 
th

is
 w

ill
 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 C
S

E
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
 w

h
e
re

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a

te
. 

L
o
c
a

l 
le

a
v
in

g
 c

a
re

 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 o

ff
e
r 

d
if
fe

re
n
t 
le

v
e

ls
 o

f 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

. 
S

C
C

 e
n
s
u

re
 t
h

e
 r

e
c
e
iv

in
g

 l
o

c
a
l 
a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 i
s
 m

a
d
e

 a
w

a
re

 t
h
a

t 
a
 c

a
re

 l
e

a
v
e

r 
fr

o
m

 S
h
e
ff

ie
ld

 i
s
 l
iv

in
g

 i
n

 
th

e
ir
 l
o

c
a
lit

y
 a

n
d

 a
d

v
o

c
a
te

 f
o
r 

th
e
m

 i
n

 r
e
c
e

iv
in

g
 t

h
e

ir
 l
o

c
a
l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
. 
If
 t
h

e
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
rs

o
n
 w

is
h

e
s
 t

o
 r

e
tu

rn
 t

o
 S

h
e
ff

ie
ld

, 
th

e
y
 p

ro
v
id

e
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 i
n

 
th

is
 t
ra

n
s
it
io

n
. 
 

 R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 4

: 
T

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
 s

h
o

u
ld

 m
a

k
e
 e

v
e

ry
 e

ff
o

rt
 t

o
 m

a
k

e
 h

e
lp

 r
e

a
c

h
 o

u
t 

to
 v

ic
ti

m
s

 o
f 

C
S

E
 w

h
o

 a
re

 n
o

t 
y
e

t 
in

 t
o

u
c

h
 w

it
h

 
s

e
rv

ic
e
s

. 
In

 p
a

rt
ic

u
la

r,
 i
t 

s
h

o
u

ld
 m

a
k

e
 e

v
e
ry

 e
ff

o
rt

 t
o

 r
e

s
to

re
 o

p
e
n

 a
c
c
e

s
s

 a
n

d
 o

u
tr

e
a

c
h

 w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 c
h

il
d

re
n

 a
ff

e
c
te

d
 b

y
 C

S
E

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

le
v
e

l 
p

re
v
io

u
s

ly
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

 b
y
 R

is
k
y
 B

u
s
in

e
s

s
. 

 O
n

e
 o

f 
th

e
 f
o

u
r 

p
ri
n
c
ip

le
s
 o

f 
th

e
 w

o
rk

 c
a

rr
ie

d
 o

u
t 
b

y
 S

S
E

S
 i
s
 p

re
v
e

n
ti
o

n
. 

In
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

, 
S

S
E

S
 o

ff
e
r 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
o
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n
d
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 a
t 

a
 

lo
w

e
r 

ri
s
k
 o

f 
b

e
in

g
 e

x
p

lo
it
e

d
 a

n
d
 t

h
o
s
e
 w

h
o
 h

a
v
e

 t
h

e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 
fo

r 
b

e
in

g
 a

t 
h

ig
h

e
r 

ri
s
k
. 
T

h
is

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

s
 C

S
E

 C
h

a
m

p
io

n
s
 w

it
h

in
 C

Y
T

s
, 
w

h
o
 

d
e
liv

e
r 

in
d
iv

id
u
a

l 
a

n
d

 t
a

rg
e
te

d
 g

ro
u

p
 w

o
rk

. 
A

d
d
it
io

n
a

lly
, 

o
u
tr

e
a
c
h

 w
o

rk
 i
n

c
lu

d
e

s
 t

h
e
 V

u
ln

e
ra

b
ili

ty
 P

ro
je

c
t,
 a

 s
tr

e
e
t 

b
a
s
e

d
 i
n

te
rv

e
n
ti
o

n
 l
e

d
 b

y
 C

Y
T

 
a

n
d

 c
o

-d
e
liv

e
re

d
 b

y
 m

u
lt
i-
a
g

e
n
c
y
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
o
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o
p

le
, 
re

fe
rr

in
g

 a
n
d
 s

ig
n

p
o

s
ti
n
g

 t
h
e

m
 t
o

 s
e
rv

ic
e

s
 w

h
e
re

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 
N

S
P

C
C

 
a

n
d

 B
a

rn
a

rd
o
s
 a

ls
o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 C

S
E

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
. 
T

h
e
 S

S
C

B
 d

ir
e
c
to

ry
 f

o
r 

s
e

x
u

a
l 
e

x
p

lo
it
a

ti
o
n

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

ill
u

s
tr

a
te

s
 t
h

e
 s

p
e
c
tr

u
m

 o
f 

a
g

e
n
c
ie

s
; 
fa

it
h

 a
n
d
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 s

e
c
to

r 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 r
e

a
c
h

in
g

 o
u
t 

a
c
ro

s
s
 S

h
e
ff

ie
ld

 t
o
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n
d
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

. 
 S

h
e
ff

ie
ld

 r
e

c
o
g

n
is

e
 a

 n
e
e

d
 t

o
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
e
 t

o
 e

n
g

a
g

e
 a

n
d

 r
e

a
c
h

 t
h

o
s
e
 w

h
o
 h

a
v
e

 n
o

t 
y
e

t 
e

n
g

a
g

e
d
 w

it
h

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
o
s
e
 n

e
w

 t
o

 t
h

e
 c

it
y
 a

n
d
 

th
o
s
e

 w
h

o
, 
th

ro
u
g

h
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o
n

 b
a
rr

ie
rs

 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 l
a

n
g

u
a
g

e
 a

n
d
 l
it
e

ra
c
y
, 

m
a

y
 n

e
e

d
 a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

S
S

C
B

 a
re

 
s
e

e
k
in

g
 a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
fu

n
d

in
g

 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
C

S
E

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 t

o
 p

u
p

ils
 v

ia
 s

c
h

o
o

ls
. 

  

Page 48



A
n

 A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

C
h

ild
 S

e
x
u

a
l 
E

x
p

lo
it
a

ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

4
 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 R

e
p

o
rt

: 
Is

s
u

e
 1

.1
 N

o
v
 1

4
 

P
a

g
e

 3
9

 

R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 5

: 
T

h
e

 r
e

m
it

 a
n

d
 r

e
s

p
o

n
s

ib
il
it

ie
s
 o

f 
th

e
 j
o

in
t 

C
S

E
 t

e
a

m
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 u

rg
e
n

tl
y
 d

e
c

id
e

d
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

te
d

 t
o

 a
ll
 

c
o

n
c
e

rn
e
d

 i
n

 a
 w

a
y
 t

h
a
t 

le
a
v

e
s

 n
o

 r
o

o
m

 f
o

r 
d

o
u

b
t.

  
 S

S
E

S
 h

a
s
 c

le
a
rl
y
 d

e
fi
n

e
d

 r
o

le
s
 a

n
d
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
. 
T

h
e
 r

e
c
e
n
t 
tr

a
in

in
g

 d
e

liv
e

re
d

 t
o
 o

v
e

r 
1

7
0

0
 p

ra
c
ti
ti
o

n
e

rs
 h

a
s
 r

e
in

fo
rc

e
d
 t
h

e
ir

 k
n

o
w

le
d
g

e
 o

f 
S

S
E

S
's

 r
e
m

it
. 
T

h
e
y
 p

la
n
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 r

a
is

in
g

 w
it
h

in
 t

h
e
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
, 
fa

it
h

 a
n
d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 s

e
c
to

rs
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
a

l 
re

fr
e
s
h

e
r 

c
o

m
m

u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
 t
o

 a
ll 

p
ra

c
ti
ti
o

n
e

rs
. 
 

 R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 6

: 
A

g
e
n

c
ie

s
 s

h
o

u
ld

 c
o

m
m

it
 t

o
 i

n
tr

o
d

u
c

in
g

 a
 s

in
g

le
 m

a
n

a
g

e
r 

fo
r 

th
e
 m

u
lt

i-
a

g
e

n
c

y
 C

S
E

 t
e

a
m

. 
T

h
is

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 a
s
 q

u
ic

k
ly

 a
s

 p
o

s
s
ib

le
. 

 
 S

S
E

S
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 o

v
e

rs
e

e
n

 b
y
 a

 s
in

g
le

 m
a

n
a
g

e
r 

s
in

c
e
 2

0
1

2
. 
T

h
e
 p

o
s
t 
is

 p
a
rt

-f
u

n
d

e
d
 b

y
 S

h
e
ff

ie
ld

 F
u
tu

re
s
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 S

S
C

B
. 

 R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 7

: 
T

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
, 
to

g
e

th
e
r 

w
it

h
 t

h
e
 P

o
li

c
e
, 
s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e
v

ie
w

 t
h

e
 s

o
c

ia
l 

c
a
re

 r
e
s

o
u

rc
e
s

 a
v

a
il
a

b
le

 t
o

 t
h

e
 C

S
E

 t
e

a
m

, 
a

n
d

 
m

a
k

e
 s

u
re

 t
h

e
s

e
 a

re
 c

o
n

s
is

te
n

t 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 n

e
e

d
 a

n
d

 d
e

m
a

n
d

 f
o

r 
s

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

 A
s
 a

 r
e

s
u
lt
 o

f 
th

e
 C

S
E

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 c

a
m

p
a
ig

n
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

, 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 t
o

 t
h

e
 S

S
E

S
 h

a
v
e

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

d
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n
tl
y
, 

le
a
d

in
g

 t
o

 a
n
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n

 
d

e
m

a
n
d

 b
o
th

 w
it
h

in
 S

S
E

S
 a

n
d
 a

c
ro

s
s
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

a
g

e
n

c
ie

s
. 

S
S

E
S

 a
n
d
 S

S
C

B
 a

re
 c

a
re

fu
lly

 m
o

n
it
o

ri
n
g

 t
h

e
 d

e
m

a
n
d

s
 o

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
 a

n
d

 e
n

s
u
ri
n

g
 t
h

a
t 

re
s
o
u

rc
e

s
 a

re
 e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e

ly
 t

a
rg

e
te

d
. 

R
e

c
e
n

tl
y
 S

S
E

S
 m

a
d
e
 t

h
e
 t

w
o

 s
o

c
ia

l 
w

o
rk

e
r 

p
o
s
ts

 p
e
rm

a
n
e

n
t 
p

o
s
it
io

n
s
. 

S
S

C
B

 h
o
ld

s
 a

ll 
a
g

e
n

c
ie

s
 t

o
 a

c
c
o
u

n
t 

th
ro

u
g

h
 g

o
v
e

rn
a

n
c
e
 s

tr
u
c
tu

re
s
, 

o
n
e
 o

f 
w

h
ic

h
 s

p
e

c
if
ic

a
lly

 t
a

rg
e
ts

 C
S

E
 a

n
d
 r

e
g

u
la

rl
y
 r

e
p
o

rt
s
 b

a
c
k
 t
o

 b
o
th

 t
h

e
 S

S
C

B
 O

p
e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l 
a

n
d

 E
x
e

c
u
ti
v
e

 
B

o
a
rd

s
. 
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

a
n
d
 P

o
lic

e
 a

re
 p

a
n

e
l 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

 o
n
 S

S
C

B
 a

n
d

 a
s
s
o

c
ia

te
d
 s

u
b

-g
ro

u
p

s
 a

n
d
 w

o
rk

 t
o
g

e
th

e
r 

c
lo

s
e
ly

 t
o
 m

o
n
it
o

r 
th

e
 r

e
s
o
u

rc
e
s
 

a
v
a

ila
b
le

 t
o

 m
e

e
t 

d
e

m
a

n
d

. 
 

 S
S

C
B

 a
n
d

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 p
ro

a
c
ti
v
e

ly
 l
o

o
k
 t
o

 o
th

e
r 

fu
n
d

in
g
 s

o
u
rc

e
s
 b

y
 b

id
d
in

g
 f

o
r 

n
a
ti
o

n
a

l 
a

n
d

 l
o
c
a

lly
 a

v
a

ila
b
le

 g
ra

n
ts

 a
n
d
 a

w
a

rd
s
. 
S

h
e
ff

ie
ld

 h
a
v
e

 
b

e
e

n
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
in

 t
h

is
, 
b

ri
n
g

in
g

 a
d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
re

s
o
u
rc

e
 t

o
 d

e
a

l 
w

it
h

 C
S

E
, 

b
e
n

e
fi
tt

in
g

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

. 
W

o
rk

in
g

 c
lo

s
e

ly
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 

a
n
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
 s

e
c
to

r 
h
e

lp
s
 t

a
rg

e
t 

n
e
e

d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
e
d

 c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
e

d
 a

n
d
 n

o
n
-c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 a
ls

o
 s

h
a
re

 i
n

it
ia

ti
v
e

s
 a

n
d

 b
e

s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 w

it
h

 o
th

e
r 

lo
c
a
l 
a

u
th

o
ri
ti
e

s
, 
th

e
re

b
y
 l
e

v
e

ra
g

in
g

 r
e

s
o
u

rc
e

s
. 

 R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 8

: 
W

id
e
r 

c
h

il
d

re
n

’s
 s

o
c
ia

l 
c

a
re

, 
th

e
 C

S
E

 t
e

a
m

 a
n

d
 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 y

o
u

th
 a

n
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 s

h
o

u
ld

 w
o

rk
 b

e
tt

e
r 

to
g

e
th

e
r 

to
 e

n
s

u
re

 t
h

a
t 

c
h

il
d

re
n

 a
ff

e
c
te

d
 b

y
 C

S
E

 a
re

 w
e

ll
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
e

d
 a

n
d

 o
ff

e
re

d
 a

n
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 r

a
n

g
e

 o
f 

p
re

v
e

n
ti

v
e

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
. 

 T
h

e
 w

o
rk

 w
h

ic
h

 S
S

E
S

 h
a
s
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 

w
it
h

 C
h
ild

re
n

 Y
o

u
th

 T
e

a
m

s
 (

C
Y

T
) 

h
ig

h
lig

h
ts

 t
h

e
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
o

rk
in

g
 c

a
n
 h

a
v
e

 i
n

 t
e

rm
s
 o

f 
ta

c
k
lin

g
 C

S
E

. 
F

o
llo

w
in

g
 r

is
k
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 b
y
 S

S
E

S
 a

n
d

 a
ft

e
r 

lo
w

 l
e

v
e

l 
in

te
rv

e
n
ti
o

n
, 

S
S

E
S

 h
a
v
e

 m
e
a

s
u
re

d
 a

 s
u

c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
im

p
a

c
t 

b
y
 t

h
e

 s
m

a
ll 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 

re
-r

e
fe

rr
a

ls
. 
J
o

in
t 

w
o

rk
in

g
 i
s
 d

ri
v
e

n
 b

y
 p

ro
c
e

d
u
re

 a
n

d
 p

ro
to

c
o

l,
 c

le
a
rl
y
 d

e
fi
n

in
g

 r
o

le
s
 a

n
d

 r
e

s
p
o

n
s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
. 
In

 t
h

e
 s

u
m

m
e
r 

o
f 
2

0
1

4
 

Page 49



A
n

 A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

C
h

ild
 S

e
x
u

a
l 
E

x
p

lo
it
a

ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

4
 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 R

e
p

o
rt

: 
Is

s
u

e
 1

.1
 N

o
v
 1

4
 

P
a

g
e

 4
0

 

S
S

E
S

 a
n
d

 C
Y

T
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 w

o
rk

 i
n

 a
 s

c
h

o
o

l 
to

 a
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 g
ro

u
p

 o
f 

n
e
w

ly
 a

rr
iv

e
d

 p
u
p

ils
 a

n
d
 h

a
s
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 w
o

rk
e

d
 i
n

 o
th

e
r 

p
a
rt

s
 o

f 
S

h
e
ff

ie
ld

, 
to

 
d

e
liv

e
r 

g
ro

u
p
 w

o
rk

 t
o
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 y
o

u
n

g
 w

o
m

e
n

 a
s
 a

 c
o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 b

a
s
e

d
-y

o
u
th

 c
lu

b
. 
S

S
E

S
 a

re
 r

e
fr

e
s
h

in
g

 s
o

c
ia

l 
c
a

re
 w

o
rk

e
rs

' 
u

n
d

e
rs

ta
n
d

in
g

 o
f 

S
S

E
S

's
 r

e
m

it
 t
o

 e
n
s
u

re
 a

ll 
a

re
 c

le
a
r 

o
n
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 r
e

q
u

ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 i
n

te
rf

a
c
e

s
. 

 R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 9

: 
A

ll
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e

c
o

g
n

is
e

 t
h

a
t 

o
n

c
e
 a

 c
h

il
d

 i
s

 a
ff

e
c
te

d
 b

y
 C

S
E

, 
h

e
 o

r 
s

h
e

 i
s

 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 

th
e
ra

p
e
u

ti
c

 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

a
n

 e
x
te

n
d

e
d

 p
e
ri

o
d

 o
f 

ti
m

e
. 

C
h

il
d

re
n

 s
h

o
u

ld
 n

o
t 

b
e
 o

ff
e

re
d

 s
h

o
rt

-t
e
rm

 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
 o

n
ly

, 
a

n
d

 c
a
s

e
s

 
s

h
o

u
ld

 n
o

t 
b

e
 c

lo
s

e
d

 p
re

m
a

tu
re

ly
. 

 T
h

e
 c

a
s
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
 w

h
ic

h
 f

o
rm

e
d
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
is

 a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
s
tr

o
n
g

ly
 i
llu

s
tr

a
te

 t
h

a
t 

c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o
p

le
 a

ff
e

c
te

d
 b

y
 C

S
E

 c
a

n
 t

a
k
e
 t

im
e

 t
o

 
d

is
c
lo

s
e
 a

n
d

 d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 i
m

p
a

c
t 
fr

o
m

 s
e
rv

ic
e

s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

. 
F

u
rt

h
e
rm

o
re

, 
th

e
 c

a
s
e

 r
e

v
ie

w
s
 s

h
o

w
e
d
 t

h
a
t 

S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 p
ro

v
id

e
 s

u
s
ta

in
e
d

 i
n
p

u
t,
 u

n
ti
l 

th
e
 r

is
k
 h

a
s
 r

e
d
u

c
e
d
. 
W

h
e

n
 r

is
k
 h

a
s
 r

e
d
u

c
e
d

 t
o
 a

 s
a
fe

 l
e
v
e

l 
th

e
re

 a
re

 p
la

n
n
e
d

 c
a

s
e
 c

lo
s
u
re

s
 w

it
h

 e
x
it
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 g

ra
d

u
a
l 
s
te

p
-d

o
w

n
 o

f 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n
d

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 r
e
fe

rr
a

ls
 t
o

 o
th

e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 s
ta

y
 c

o
n
n

e
c
te

d
 t
o

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
, 

a
s
 l
o
n
g

 a
s
 t
h

e
re

 i
s
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 n

e
e

d
 

a
n
d

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 w
o

rk
 t
o

 t
h

e
ir
 t

im
e
s
c
a

le
s
. 
 

 S
S

C
B

 a
n
d

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 r
e

c
o
g

n
is

e
 a

 s
h

o
rt

a
g

e
 i
n

 c
o

u
n
s
e

lli
n

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
 t
h

a
t 
a

re
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a
te

 t
o
 t

h
o
s
e

 w
h

o
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 C
S

E
. 
T

h
e
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 
In

n
o

v
a

ti
o
n

 F
u

n
d
 b

id
 a

im
s
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 t

o
 t
ra

in
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 

S
S

E
S

 t
o

 d
e

liv
e

r 
th

e
ra

p
e

u
ti
c
 w

o
rk

 w
h

ic
h

 w
ill

 a
s
s
is

t,
 b

u
t 

n
o

t 
c
o
m

p
le

te
ly

 b
ri
d
g

e
 

th
is

 g
a

p
. 
S

S
C

B
 a

re
 l
o

o
k
in

g
 t

o
 s

e
c
u
re

 f
u

n
d

in
g
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 A

d
u
lt
 S

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 B
o

a
rd

 w
it
h

 a
 v

ie
w

 t
o

 p
ro

v
id

in
g

 a
d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 m
a
k
in

g
 t
h
e

 t
ra

n
s
it
io

n
 t
o

 a
d

u
lt
h

o
o

d
. 
O

p
e
ra

ti
o
n

 A
lp

h
a

b
e
t 

h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 t
h

e
 n

e
e
d

 f
o

r 
m

o
re

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 l
o

n
g

 t
e

rm
 e

ff
e

c
ts

 o
f 

C
S

E
 

in
to

 a
d
u

lt
h

o
o

d
. 

 
 R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 1

0
: 

T
h

e
 S

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 B
o

a
rd

, 
th

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 C

S
E

 s
u

b
-g

ro
u

p
, 

s
h

o
u

ld
 w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 l

o
c
a
l 

a
g

e
n

c
ie

s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 h

e
a
lt

h
, 
to

 
s

e
c

u
re

 t
h

e
 d

e
li
v

e
ry

 o
f 

p
o

s
t-

a
b

u
s
e
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

 C
S

E
 h

a
s
 a

 d
e

v
a

s
ta

ti
n

g
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o

n
 t
h

e
 l
iv

e
s
 o

f 
c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

. 
R

e
d
u

c
in

g
 t
h

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
C

S
E

 o
n
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n
d
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 i
s
 c

e
n
tr

a
l 

to
 t
h

e
 C

S
E

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

. 
T

h
e
 S

S
C

B
 O

p
e
ra

ti
o
n

a
l 
B

o
a
rd

; 
S

S
C

B
 E

x
e

c
u
ti
v
e

 B
o

a
rd

 a
n
d
 C

S
E

 s
u

b
-g

ro
u
p

s
 a

re
 b

o
th

 a
tt

e
n

d
e

d
 b

y
 

re
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e

s
 f
ro

m
 h

e
a
lt
h

. 
T

h
is

 e
n
a

b
le

s
 c

ro
s
s
-a

g
e

n
c
y
 d

is
c
u

s
s
io

n
s
 w

it
h

 h
e

a
lt
h

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 r

e
g

a
rd

in
g

 r
e

s
o
u

rc
e

s
 b

e
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 t

o
 S

S
E

S
 a

n
d

 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

 t
o

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 t
o

 d
e
a

l 
w

it
h

 C
S

E
 a

n
d

 i
ts

 i
m

p
a
c
t.
 S

h
e
ff

ie
ld

 h
a
v
e

 r
e
c
o

g
n

is
e

d
 a

 n
e
e

d
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h

o
s
e

 s
u

b
je

c
t 
to

 
C

S
E

 h
a
v
e

 a
c
c
e

s
s
 t
o

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a

lt
h

 p
ro

v
is

io
n
 i
n

to
 a

d
u

lt
h

o
o

d
 a

n
d

 S
S

C
B

 a
re

 w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 A

d
u
lt
 S

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 B
o

a
rd

 t
o

 h
e

lp
 s

e
c
u

re
 t

h
is

. 
 T

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e

d
 t

o
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
 a

 c
le

a
re

r 
p

a
th

w
a

y
 t

o
 h

e
a

lt
h

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 f
o

r 
th

o
s
e
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 a

re
 i
m

p
a
c
te

d
 b

y
 C

S
E

. 
T

h
is

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

s
 

ro
u
te

s
 i
n

to
 C

A
M

H
S

 a
n
d

 o
th

e
r 

m
e

n
ta

l 
h

e
a

lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

 

Page 50



A
n

 A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

C
h

ild
 S

e
x
u

a
l 
E

x
p

lo
it
a

ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

4
 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 R

e
p

o
rt

: 
Is

s
u

e
 1

.1
 N

o
v
 1

4
 

P
a

g
e

 4
1

 

R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 1

1
: 

A
ll
 a

g
e

n
c

ie
s
 s

h
o

u
ld

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

e
 t

o
 r

e
s
o

u
rc

e
, 
a

n
d

 s
tr

e
n

g
th

e
n

, 
th

e
 q

u
a
li
ty

 a
s

s
u

ra
n

c
e
 w

o
rk

 c
u

rr
e

n
tl

y
 u

n
d

e
rw

a
y
 

u
n

d
e
r 

th
e
 a

u
s

p
ic

e
s

 o
f 

th
e
 S

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 B
o

a
rd

. 
 S

S
E

S
 r

e
p
o

rt
s
 t
o

 t
h

e
 S

S
C

B
 o

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l 
b

o
a
rd

 a
n
d

 e
x
e

c
u
ti
v
e

 m
e

e
ti
n
g

s
, 
p

ro
v
id

in
g

 q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y
 r

e
p
o

rt
s
 d

e
ta

ili
n

g
 t
h

e
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e

, 
a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 

a
n
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
re

p
o
rt

. 
A

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 q

u
a
lit

y
 a

s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 f
ra

m
e

w
o

rk
, 

S
S

C
B

 m
o

n
it
o

r 
th

e
 e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e

n
e

s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 C

S
E

 s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

s
e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

M
u

lt
i-

a
g

e
n
c
y
 C

S
E

 t
h
e

m
e

d
 a

u
d
it
s
 i
n
fo

rm
 S

S
C

B
 o

f 
w

h
a
t 

is
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
e

ll 
a

n
d

 h
ig

h
lig

h
t 

p
o
in

ts
 f
o

r 
p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

ls
 t

o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

w
h

e
n

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
a

lly
 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 

C
S

E
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

In
d
iv

id
u
a

l 
a

g
e

n
c
ie

s
 u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

 C
S

E
 t

h
e
m

a
ti
c
 a

u
d

it
s
 w

it
h

 k
e

y
 l
e

s
s
o
n

s
 b

e
in

g
 i
n

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
d
 i
n

to
 t
h

e
 C

S
E

 s
u

b
-g

ro
u

p
 q

u
a
lit

y
 

a
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
. 

L
e
s
s
o

n
s
 f
ro

m
 S

e
ri
o
u

s
 C

a
s
e
 R

e
v
ie

w
s
 a

n
d

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 
e

v
e

n
ts

 s
u

c
h
 a

s
 O

p
e
ra

ti
o

n
 A

lp
h
a

b
e

t 
a
re

 r
e

v
ie

w
e

d
 a

n
d

 d
is

s
e

m
in

a
te

d
 t
o

 
p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

ls
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e

 o
f 

S
S

E
S

. 
 In

 a
d

d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
is

 C
S

E
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t,
 w

h
ic

h
 i
n

c
lu

d
e

d
 a

n
 S

S
C

B
 s

e
lf
-a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t,
 S

S
C

B
 h

a
s
 r

e
s
p

o
n
d

e
d

 t
o
 t

h
e
 N

W
G

 N
e
tw

o
rk

 b
e
n

c
h
m

a
rk

 
q

u
e
s
ti
o

n
n

a
ir
e

. 
In

 J
u

n
e

 2
0

1
4

 S
S

C
B

 a
ls

o
 r

e
s
p
o

n
d
e

d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 O

ff
ic

e
 o

f 
th

e
 C

h
ild

re
n

's
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e

r'
s
 q

u
e
s
ti
o

n
n

a
ir
e

 w
h

ic
h

 l
o

o
k
e

d
 a

t 
h

o
w

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 
h

a
d

 r
e

s
p
o

n
d

e
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
ir
 R

e
c
o
g

n
it
io

n
 a

n
d

 T
e

lli
n

g
 (

2
0

1
3

) 
re

p
o

rt
. 

A
ll 

o
f 

th
e
s
e
 r

e
s
p
o

n
s
e

s
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
q

u
a
lit

y
 a

s
s
u
ra

n
c
e

 a
n
d

 b
e

n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g

. 
 R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 1

2
: 

T
h

e
re

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 m

o
re

 d
ir

e
c

t 
a

n
d

 m
o

re
 f

re
q

u
e

n
t 

e
n

g
a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
b

y
 t

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
 a

n
d

 a
ls

o
 t

h
e
 S

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 B
o

a
rd

 
w

it
h

 w
o

m
e

n
 a

n
d

 m
e

n
 f

ro
m

 m
in

o
ri

ty
 e

th
n

ic
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 i

s
s
u

e
 o

f 
C

S
E

 a
n

d
 o

th
e
r 

fo
rm

s
 o

f 
a

b
u

s
e

. 
 

 S
S

C
B

 a
n
d

 S
C

C
 b

e
lie

v
e

 i
t 

is
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
t 
to

 d
e
liv

e
r 

C
S

E
 a

w
a

re
n

e
s
s
 t

o
 a

ll 
o
f 

th
e

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 c
o
m

m
u

n
it
y
, 
re

g
a
rd

le
s
s
 o

f 
g

e
n
d

e
r 

o
r 

e
th

n
ic

 g
ro

u
p

. 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o
p

le
 w

h
o
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 C
S

E
 a

n
d
 t

h
o
s
e

 t
h

a
t 
h

a
v
e

 o
ff

e
n
d

e
d

 i
n
 S

h
e
ff

ie
ld

 a
re

 r
e

p
re

s
e
n

te
d
 a

c
ro

s
s
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

e
th

n
ic

 g
ro

u
p
s
. 
N

o
n
e

th
e

le
s
s
, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 s
o
m

e
 m

in
o
ri
ty

 e
th

n
ic

 c
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
 a

n
d
 g

e
o
g

ra
p
h

ic
 a

re
a
s
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 w
h

e
re

 C
S

E
 a

w
a

re
n

e
s
s
 c

a
n
 b

e
 

m
o

re
 e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e

ly
 t

a
rg

e
te

d
. 
In

d
e

e
d

, 
S

S
E

S
 h

a
s
 b

e
g

u
n

 a
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 o

f 
C

S
E

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 r

a
is

in
g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 w

it
h

in
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 

g
e

o
g

ra
p

h
ic

 c
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
. 

P
re

v
io

u
s
ly

, 
C

S
E

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 w

o
rk

 h
a
s
 b

e
e

n
 c

a
rr

ie
d

 o
u

t 
w

it
h

 m
o

s
q

u
e
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 S

h
e
ff

ie
ld

 b
y
 S

o
u
th

 Y
o
rk

s
h

ir
e

 P
o

lic
e

's
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

o
ff

ic
e

rs
. 

S
S

E
S

 h
a
s
 e

n
g

a
g

e
d
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 C

o
h
e

s
io

n
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 C

Y
T

 m
a

n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
re

c
o
g

n
is

e
d
 l
e

v
e

ra
g

e
 o

f 
re

s
o
u

rc
e

s
 a

n
d

 s
tr

u
c
tu

re
s
 

fo
r 

m
u

lt
ip

le
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t.

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 s
tr

e
e
t 

c
h

a
m

p
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 P

o
lic

e
 a

re
 a

ls
o
 r

a
is

in
g

 C
S

E
 a

w
a

re
n

e
s
s
 a

n
d

 s
o

m
e
 a

re
 l
e

a
rn

in
g

 
b

a
s
ic

 s
k
ill

s
 i
n

 l
a
n

g
u

a
g

e
s
 o

th
e

r 
th

a
n
 E

n
g

lis
h

. 
  

 S
S

C
B

 h
a
s
 a

lr
e

a
d

y
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 t

w
o

 c
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u

p
s
 t

h
a
t 

c
o
u

ld
 p

ro
v
id

e
 e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e

 m
e

s
s
a
g

e
s
 t

o
 A

s
ia

n
 w

o
m

e
n

 a
n
d

 p
la

n
s
 a

re
 i
n

 p
la

c
e
 t

o
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 
th

e
m

. 
S

S
C

B
 p

la
n
 t
o

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 n

e
w

ly
 a

rr
iv

e
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n

it
y
, 

u
ti
lis

in
g

 e
x
is

ti
n

g
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

s
. 
  

S
S

E
S

 h
a
s
 a

ls
o

 r
e

c
e
n
tl
y
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 

a
 C

S
E

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 s

e
s
s
io

n
 t

o
 a

 g
ro

u
p

 o
f 

y
o

u
n
g

 A
s
ia

n
 m

e
n
. 

 S
S

C
B

 a
n
d

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 a
c
ti
v
e

ly
 s

e
e
k
 a

n
y
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
y
 t
o

 r
a

is
e

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 l
e
v
e

ra
g

in
g

 f
ro

m
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
c
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

s
, 
g

a
te

w
a

y
s
 a

n
d

 t
h

ro
u
g

h
 

s
c
h

o
o

ls
. 
In

d
e

e
d
, 
th

e
ir
 a

im
 i
s
 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

u
ti
lis

e
 t

h
e
 r

e
s
o
u

rc
e

s
 i
n

 s
c
h

o
o

l 
to

 c
o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
te

 w
it
h

 b
o

th
 p

u
p
ils

 a
n
d

 t
h

e
ir
 f

a
m

ili
e

s
. 

 

Page 51



A
n

 A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

C
h

ild
 S

e
x
u

a
l 
E

x
p

lo
it
a

ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

4
 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 R

e
p

o
rt

: 
Is

s
u

e
 1

.1
 N

o
v
 1

4
 

P
a

g
e

 4
2

 

R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 1

3
: 

T
h

e
 S

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 B
o

a
rd

 s
h

o
u

ld
 a

d
d

re
s
s
 t

h
e
 u

n
d

e
r-

re
p

o
rt

in
g

 o
f 

s
e
x

u
a
l 
e

x
p

lo
it

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 a

b
u

s
e
 i

n
 m

in
o

ri
ty

 
e

th
n

ic
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s
. 

 C
S

E
 d

a
ta

 a
n

a
ly

s
is

 f
o

r 
a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

y
e

a
rs

 h
a
s
 d

e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

d
 t

h
a
t 

S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

s
 t

o
 b

u
c
k
 t

h
e
 n

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
tr

e
n
d
 o

f 
u

n
d

e
r-

re
p
o

rt
in

g
 o

f 
C

S
E

 i
n

 
m

in
o
ri
ty

 e
th

n
ic

 g
ro

u
p

s
. 
 

 S
S

E
S

 i
n

te
n

d
s
 t

o
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
e

 i
ts

 w
o

rk
 t
o

 h
ig

h
lig

h
t 
th

e
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 f
ro

m
 a

ll 
b

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d
s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
o
s
e
 f
ro

m
 m

in
o
ri
ty

 
e

th
n

ic
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
. 

T
h

e
 w

o
rk

 a
d
d

re
s
s
e
d

 u
n

d
e
r 

th
is

 r
e

c
o
m

m
e

n
d

a
ti
o

n
 w

ill
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 d

ri
v
e

 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a
t 

v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 f
ro

m
 

m
in

o
ri
ty

 e
th

n
ic

 c
o

m
m

u
n
it
ie

s
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e

 t
o

 b
e
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 a

n
d

 p
ro

te
c
te

d
. 

 R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 1

4
: 

T
h

e
 i

s
s
u

e
 o

f 
ra

c
e
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 t

a
c
k

le
d

 a
s
 a

n
 a

b
s

o
lu

te
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 i
f 

it
 i

s
 a

 s
ig

n
if

ic
a
n

t 
fa

c
to

r 
in

 t
h

e
 c

ri
m

in
a
l 

a
c
ti

v
it

y
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

is
e

d
 c

h
il
d

 s
e

x
u

a
l 
a

b
u

s
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
. 

 T
h

e
 S

S
E

S
 a

n
d

 P
o

lic
e

 h
a
v
e

 i
n
tr

o
d
u

c
e
d

 n
e

w
 d

a
ta

 c
o

lla
ti
o
n

 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
y
 c

a
p
tu

re
 k

e
y
 d

e
m

o
g

ra
p

h
ic

s
 o

f 
a

lle
g

e
d
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
v
ic

te
d
 C

S
E

 
p

e
rp

e
tr

a
to

rs
. 
W

h
ils

t 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 r
e

c
o
g

n
is

e
s
 t
h

e
 n

e
e

d
 t

o
 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

 i
f 

e
th

n
ic

it
y
 i
s
 a

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 
fa

c
to

r,
 i
n

 o
rd

e
r 

th
a
t 

w
o

rk
 c

a
n
 b

e
 u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
 w

it
h

in
 

s
p

e
c
if
ic

 c
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
 a

s
 d

e
ta

ile
d
 u

n
d

e
r 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n

d
a

ti
o
n

s
 1

2
 a

n
d

 1
3
, 

S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 f
e

e
l 
th

a
t 
a

ll 
p

e
rp

e
tr

a
to

rs
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 d

e
a

lt
 w

it
h

 a
n
d

 p
ro

s
e
c
u
te

d
, 

re
g

a
rd

le
s
s
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 b

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

. 
T

h
is

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 d

o
n

e
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e
 b

e
s
t 

in
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 c

h
ild

 o
r 

y
o

u
n
g

 p
e

rs
o

n
. 

 R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 1

5
: 

W
e

 r
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

E
d

u
c

a
ti

o
n

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

 g
u

id
in

g
 p

ri
n

c
ip

le
 o

n
 r

e
d

a
c
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 S
e

ri
o

u
s

 C
a
s

e
 

R
e

v
ie

w
s
 m

u
s
t 

b
e
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
 w

e
lf

a
re

 o
f 

a
n

y
 c

h
il
d

re
n

 i
n

v
o

lv
e
d

 i
s

 p
a
ra

m
o

u
n

t.
 

 T
h

is
 i
s
 a

 r
e

c
o
m

m
e

n
d

a
ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

th
e
 D

fE
. 

    

Page 52



A
n

 A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

C
h

ild
 S

e
x
u

a
l 
E

x
p

lo
it
a

ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 i
n

 S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

4
 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 R

e
p

o
rt

: 
Is

s
u

e
 1

.1
 N

o
v
 1

4
 

P
a

g
e

 4
3

 

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 D

: 
 

 
  

 

1
 F

T
E

 

C
S

E
 

S
E

R
V

IC
E

 

M
A

N
A

G
E

R
 

S
H

E
F

F
IE

L
D

 F
U

T
U

R
E

S
 

 

1
 F

T
E

 

 S
E

R
G

E
A

N
T

 

S
O

U
T

H
 Y

O
R

K
S

H
IR

E
 

P
O

L
I
C

E
 

  

1
 F

T
E

 

S
U

P
P

O
R

T
 

W
O

R
K

E
R

 

B
A

R
N

A
R

D
O

S
 

S
O

C
IA

L
 W

O
R

K
 

  

1
.5

 F
T

E
 

A
D

M
IN

 

S
U

P
P

O
R

T
 

  

4
.5

 F
T

E
 

T
A

K
IN

G
 

S
T

O
C

K
 

  

4
 F

T
E

 

 D
C

s
 /

 P
C

s
 

  

2
 F

T
E

 

M
IS

S
IN

G
 

P
E

R
S

O
N

S
 

O
F

F
IC

E
R

S
 

S
h

e
ff

ie
ld

 S
e

x
u

a
l 

E
x

p
lo

it
a

ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 

  

1
 F

T
E

 

F
A

M
IL

Y
 

IN
T

E
R

V
E

N
T

IO
N

 

W
O

R
K

E
R

 

  

2
 F

T
E

 

S
O

C
IA

L
 

W
O

R
K

E
R

S
 

Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	6 Assessment of Child Sexual Exploitation Services in Sheffield
	Assessment of CSE Services in Sheffield Nov 14 Executive Summary Issue 1 1 3 Dec 14
	Assessment of CSE Services in Sheffield November 2014 Final Issue 1 1 3 Dec  14


